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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT
Dear customers, partners and shareholders
I am grateful to be presenting the highlight of
another successful year’s report.
We undertook a thorough transformation and
projects that emphasize increasing the values
we generate to our customers and partners.
In 2018, we expanded our correspondent
relationship with highly reputable 150 banks;
thus, cleared approximately 85% of foreign
transactions and financed about 57% of all
trade finance deals.

“

We kept focusing on providing the lowest APR
with the most extended term possible to our
customers with the capital we accumulated
from international banks and financial
institutions.
Furthermore, we concluded the first-ever
syndicated loan agreement between Mongolian
and Chinese banks of CNY 250 million with
Baoshang and Huishang banks. Also, Bank of
Inner Mongolia line of credit increased to CNY
200 million and received USD 70 million credit
capital; thus, the amount of money we received
from abroad reached MNT 436.86 billion.

In 2018, we expanded our correspondent
relationship with highly reputable 150 banks; thus,
cleared approximately 85% of foreign transactions
and financed about 57% of all trade finance deals.
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We proved that our worth as the business
supporter bank as we obtained 30% of the
total funding provided under the second phase
of ADB’s Credit Guarantee program to finance
our customers’ business.
As the leader of Sustainable financing standard,
successful implementer and “ToC Leader”
bank, we organized the “Sustainable Forum
2019” to share our knowledge and best case
studies to Mongolian banks.
I want to extend my deepest gratitude to our
customers, partners, and employees who
shared the 28 years of joyous and triumphant
journey.

I hope in 2019 we will work towards helping
our customers to realize their dreams and
generate values with full success.
I wish you the best in all your future endeavors.

With sincerest regards,

PRESIDENT
MEDREE Balbar
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO
Dear customers, shareholders,
partners, associates

business

I’m delighted to present the report of our
achievements, results, and performance for the
year of 2018.
Due to positive macro-economic indicators,
2018 was another successful year for TDB with
increases in assets, customer deposits, loan
portfolio, and most importantly trust of our
stakeholders. I believe this is the fruit of the
collaboration of our customers, partners, and
the hard work of our employees.

“

In the reporting year, TDB’s assets reached
MNT 7.2 trillion with a 5.9 percent increase,
and customer deposits reached MNT 3.5
trillion with a 14.7 percent increase. Bank’s total
equity reached to MNT 928.8 billion with an
increase of MNT 196.3 billion share capital and
share premium.
We are also expanding our market share in the
banking sector with 22 percent of all assets and
20.04 percent of total deposits.

In the reporting year, TDB’s assets reached MNT
7.2 trillion with a 5.9 percent increase, and customer
deposits reached MNT 3.5 trillion with a 14.7 percent
increase. Bank’s total equity reached to MNT 928.8
billion with an increase of MNT 196.3 billion share
capital and share premium.
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In 2018, our loan portfolio reached MNT 2.8
trillion with a 10.8 percent increase, which
we supported trade finances, cash-flow, and
financial capacities. As a result of this interest,
income increased 8.4 percent to MNT 664.5
billion, and net-income reached MNT 188.7
billion.
By independent research, our bank’s Customer
satisfaction index estimated at 80.6 percent and
appraised TDB as “Reputable,” “Comfortable,”
and “Skillful” is a result of our hard work.
As the leading bank with corporate social
responsibility, we undertook several projects.
For example, nationwide, we renovated 28
schools’ libraries. We donated to the renovation
of the National Center for Maternal and Child

Health’s post-natal surgical intensive care unit.
To TDB’s Digital Transformation, we introduced
the first AI-Based lending product and
expanded “Corporate Gateway” API based
banking service solutions to save the time of
our customers and make it accessible to them.
I want to express my gratitude to all our
partners, associates trust in all our hardworking staffs and us.
In 2019, Us at TDB will work to become
customer-centric, to improve our products
and services based on customers’ need and
demand, and to become the international
bank, which significantly contributes to nation’s
economy.

With sincerest regards,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ORKHON Onon
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TOGETHER TOWARDS PROSPERITY
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Bank logo

Slogan

The logo was designed based on a coin, symbolizing
infinitely flowing wealth towards the money chest
from incardinal directions with infinite circulation of
money to grow and accumulate wealth and treasure
in abundance.

“Together towards prosperity”

Mission

Vision

As the leading universal bank in Mongolia, TDB
constantly aims to achieve the highest customer
satisfaction by developing and providing the demand
driven, valuable banking solutions for corporate, SME
and retail customers. Our success will be built upon our
commitment to excellent service, staff professionalism
and best corporate governance.

TDB will be the leading financial institution in Mongolia,
a universal bank with a strong international presence,
a dedicated, trusted and responsible financial partner
helping all its clients and stakeholders in their pursuit
of sustainable financial well-being.

The slogan of TDB calls upon, unifies and inspires
employees, customers and investors to walk towards
the development and prosperity together
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Audit Committee

Shareholders meeting

Risk Committee
Nomination and remuneration
committee

General Audit Unit
BoD

Chief Audit Executive

Internal Audit Department
Special Audit Unit

Executive Committee

President

Asset Liability Committee

CEO

Administration and HR
Department

HR Unit

Director’s Board
Credit Committee

First Deputy CEO
Corporate Banking
Department

Product Development
Committee

Marketing Department

Deputy CEO
Sub-credit Committee

Retail Banking Department

Card Management
Department

Branch Management
Department

Customer Service Unit

Customer Information Unit

Insurance Unit

Branches
Deputy CEO
Tender Committee

Operational Risk Management
Unit

Loan Administration Unit

Risk Management
Department

Market Risk Management Unit

Compliance Unit

Credit Risk Management Unit

Deputy CEO
Custodian Services Unit

Treasury Department

Procurement, Sales and
Contracting Unit

Trading Unit

Financial Management and
Control Department

Financial Accounting Control
Unit

Deputy CEO
Ethics Committee

Legal Department

Special Asset Unit

Corporate Security
Department

Information Security Unit

Physical Security Unit

Deputy CEO
Operational Risk Committee
Deputy CEO

Interbank
Settlement Unit
International and Corporate
Relations Department

Settlement Unit

General Affairs Unit

Treasury Trading
Settlement Unit

Trade Finance Settlement
Unit

Core System Unit

Cash and Bullion
Management Unit

Processing Unit

IT Department

IT infrastructure Unit
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Excellence in corporate governance is a fundamental aspect of corporate sustainability and TDB supports a comprehensive governance framework in line
with best international practices.
Our governance structure determines the fundamental relations among the members of Representative Governing Board, management, shareholders and
other stakeholders. It defines the framework in which ethical values are established and the context in which corporate strategies and objectives are set.
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Representative Governing Board

Employees

Our board operates and requires at all levels,
impeccable values, honesty and openness. Through its
processes, it achieves transparent, open governance
and communications under all circumstances
addressed. The board provides with vision and
strategy to direct and support banking operations.

TDB is committed to providing faithful, safe,
challenging and rewarding work, recognizing the
importance of attracting and retaining high quality
staff and consequently, being in a position to excel in
customer service.

Management team

Us

The management team of TDB consists of competent
managers in banking and finance. Prudent corporate
governance structure, our governance policies and
practices support the ability of directors to supervise
management and enhance long term shareholder
value.

TDB is strongly committed to maintain an ethical
workspace, complying with legal and ethical
responsibilities. As we work to serve our customers,
clients, and communities and generate return for
our shareholders, we understand that success is only
meaningful when it is achieved in a noble way.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman
Mr. Doljin ERDENEBILEG

Shareholders
meeting

Board of
directors

Risk
committee

Audit
committee

REPORT

MONITORING

Executive Vice Chairman
Mr. Randolph KOPPA

Nomination
and
remuneration
committee

Internal
audit

Deputy Executive Vice Chairman
Mr. Damdin GANTUGS
MEMBERS
Mr. Zuunai SHAGDARSUREN
Ms. Jalbaa BOLORMAA
Ms. Tamir TSOLMON

Asset, liability
committee

Chief
Executive
Officer

Mr. Jamsrandorj DELGERSAIKHAN
Executive
committee

CORPORATE SECRETARY
Ms. Dashzegve DAVAAJAV
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INTERNAL AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM
Operational structure, arrangement of Internal audit
Representative Governing Board Audit, Chief Audit Executive and Internal Audit Departments (IAD) are responsible for TDB’s internal audit operations.
Internal audit helps the organization accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
risk management, control and governance processes.
IAD’s function is directed at every function of TDB’s operations including governance, internal management, risk management of departments, branches,
settlement centers and subsidiaries through independent, objective and consulting reports.
Management structure of intern al audit:

Audit Committee

Shareholders meeting

Risk Committee

General Audit Unit
BoD

Nomination and remuneration
committee
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Chief Audit Executive

Internal Audit Department
Special Audit Unit

Operations of Internal Audit Department

Internal control system

IAD reports to Representative Governing
Board, Audit committee and informs outcomes
to Chief Audit Executive. Internal audit
conducts audit in all operations and provides
necessary information on improvement. IAD is
adhering to policy, procedure, plan approved
by the Board and IIA Global (International
Professional Practice Framework) issued by the
IIA Global in their operations.

Internal control system of TDB is implemented
as the executive management and is
responsible for internal control, monitoring
and evaluation of Audit committee and IAD on
its effectiveness and efficiency.
Internal control aims at the organization’s
goals and objectives, and is a comprehensive
process that has to be fulfilled by overhead of

the organization, executive management and
staffs. Internal control is an inseperable part of
daily function of TDB and is required to have
optimal control system at all levels of business.
Including management level control, controls
for each specific place and unit, on-site control,
implementation of complaints, regulatory
policy, procedures ,guidelines, granting access
to program.
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Bank establishes appropriate governance for
the organization which is necessary for internal
control system, based on the relevant laws,
regulations.
Executive management of TDB continuously
takes action (create jobs with responsibility
to control, include internal control related
provision on instruction and procedure, include
control task and duties on staff’s job description,
etc) on making internal control system more
optimal, and focusing and monitoring internal
control function to make sure system is going
constant and in high quality.

IAD does audit on if internal control of TDB
is normal and efficient, how the executive
management is improving internal control,
if correcting action is being implemented in
timely manner and evaluates, concludes the
result and report the result to Chief Audit
Executive, Audit Committee ad Executive
manager and takes the necessary measures
every time.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM
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2

4

Mr. Onon ORKHON
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Sanjaasuren ORGODOL
Deputy CEO

1

3

Mr. Balbar MEDREE
President

Mr. Dambiijav KHURELBAATAR
Deputy CEO
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Ms. Bayarbaatar BAYARMAA
Deputy CEO

Ms. Batchuluun MUNKHJAVKHAA
Director of Administration and
HR Department

5

7

Ms. Demchigjav OTGONBILEG
Deputy CEO

Ms. Palamdorj GANTUUL
Chief Auditor

15

CONTENT | HISTORY OF TDB

TIMELINE OF HIGHLIGHTS (2012-2017)

• TDB has participated in the tender of The International Air
Transport Association (IATA) and been selected as TDB to
provide the clearing services. As a result, we started to provide
comprehensive and the most advanced financial services to
execute the payment transactions between airline companies
and the ticket agents in prompt and secure way.
• TDB has launched Convertible Corporate Certificate of Deposit,
a new product for our corporate customers to increase
efficiency of cash management and earn higher interest
income.

• Firstly, introduced “₮” electronic card.
• First time in Mongolia introduced UnionPay card
with triple currencies.

• Successfully issued its first RMB 700 mln.

• Successfully issued USD 300 mln senior notes.

• Opened its first representative office in Tokyo, Japan.

2012

• TDB has introduced “International Bulk Transaction” service,
which enables customers to make domestic and international
transactions faster and easier. It also allows foreign firms to
manage their accounts from abroad.

2014

2013

2016

2015

• First time signed “Syndicated Facility Loan agreement”
for USD 82 mln on international financial market.

• Successfully issued its USD 500 mln
senior notes for tenor of five years.

• Signed “Cooperation agreement” with Microsoft
corporation for extending qualified and secure
software.

• Introduced first Custodian banking
service in Mongolian market.

• Awarded as “Best Bank in Frontier Market” of Asia by
Finance Asia magazine.

2017
• Once again, TDB has proven its reliable financial corporation on the
international capital markets by successfully repaying RMB 700 million
bond, issued in 2014, on the original maturity date, without an external
source of funds.
• Firstly, introduced Visa payWave technology on TDB’s Gold Credit cards,
presenting another step of innovation into the market.
• Introduced TDB Pay services, the next generation of mobile payment
services making mobile transactions easier, faster, and secure.
• Successfully launched “eReg”, an online registration software, associated
with TDB’s primary banking program to register the customer from
anywhere in the world.
• Successfully improved TDB Online service by implementing additional
functions, which are opening a current and savings account, getting
an official bank account statement with QR verification code and other
statements.
• In affiliation with Credit Guarantee Fund of Mongolia, signed a USD 60
million loan agreement for SMEs financed by Asian Development Bank.
• TDB became the first bank to provide customers to get banking,
insurance, and stock market services on our online banking.
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2018 HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCING AND COOPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

DIGITAL BANK AND
INFORMATION SECURITY

Concluded the first inter-bank syndicated facility agreement
between Mongolian and Chinese banks “Syndicated Facility
Agreement” with Baoshang Bank and Huishang Bank, and
received funding of CNY250 million.

In our Digital Strategy effort, we improved our core banking
system, increased our software and information security
capabilities, and introduced the Omni-channel platform. The
platform incorporated all systems to improve customer’s
experience and giving the ability to access all bank services
digitally. In the scope of effort, signed an agreement with
Compass Plus LLC.

TDB, through its Representative Office in Tokyo, has
successfully received MNT funding in the form of crowdfunding from Japan’s financial market in cooperation
with Japan’s Crowdcredit company, for the first time from
Mongolia.
Signed a cooperation agreement with the Republic of Korea’s
embassy on “Visa intended saving” product.

The Trade and Development Bank became the first bank in
Mongolia to fully comply with the PCI DSS (Payment Card
Industry Data Security Standard) and received the PCI DSS
3.2 qualification certification from Qualified Security Assessor
(QSA) ControlCase.
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RETAIL MARKET
Opened six new branches complete with the look from Allen
International’s design guideline.
We have rebranded children’s saving product to “Maamuu”
children’s saving product in agreement with Mongol Content
LLC.
Introduced “KHUR” fingerprint authentication system.

18

First time in Mongolia, we introduced e-commerce consumer
loan based on artificial intelligence with Shoppy.mn leading
e-commerce platform.
Selected as the leading supporter of Mongolbank’s “Financial
Education” campaign.
As a 2018’s Leader Bank of Sustainability organized the
“Sustainable Financing Forum 2018”.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
MNT BILLION
Assets

2015

2016

2017

2018

Cash and due from banks

695.0

1,188.8

1,073.9

1,294.8

Investment securities

1,412.5

1,525.4

2,026.3

1,759.1

46.8

59.5

60.8

-

2,645.0

2,835.2

2,765.0

3,054.7

99.8

-

12.0

-

4.0

4.0

-

-

204.9

333.6

324.1

397.5

1.4

5.0

2.6

2.8

99.8

88.9

92.0

80.1

1.4

2.2

2.8

2.7

333.5

602.5

515.4

627.1

Investment in associates and joint ventures
Loans and advances, net
Bills purchased under resale agreements
Subordinated loans
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investment properties
Foreclosed real properties, net
Current tax assets
Other assets

-

-

-

64.9

Total assets

5,544.1

6,645.2

6,874.9

7,283.8

MNT BILLION
Liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by banks and
other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Borrowings
Current tax liabilities
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities
Subordinated debt securities issued
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Revaluation reserves
Accumulated unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale financial assets
Accumulated unrealized gain on valuation
of cash flow hedges
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity
holders of the Group
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

2015

2016

2017

2018

2,210.0

2,415.5

3,070.2

3,522.8

112.8

143.2

243.9

182.0

99.8

130.0

130.0

65.0

1,012.4

1,392.2

1,068.7

975.8

4.4

1.5

0.0

-

1,175.9

1,569.4

1,344.6

1,461.2

231.0

209.4

142.0

148.2

29.9

24.9

-

-

4,876.2

5,886.0

5,999.4

6,355.0

2015

2016

2017

2018

69.3

67.7

69.3

265.6

135.3

127.0

130.0

129.2

(23.8)

30.2

13.7

10.7

39.9

14.9

72.4

29.4

445.2

516.6

590.2

493.8

665.9

756.4

875.5

928.8

2.0

2.8

-

-

667.9

759.2

875.5

928.8

5,544.1

6,645.2

6,874.9

7,283.8
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Ratios

MNT BILLION
2015
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Other operating income (net)

2016

2017

MNT BILLION

2018

532.9

593.2

612.9

664.5

(358.5)

(400.8)

(434.1)

(475.8)

2015

2016

2017

2018

34.1%

42.0%

Profitability
Cost income ratio

48.5%

39.4%

Net interest Margin

174.3

192.4

178.8

188.7

4.1%

4.3%

3.9%

3.9%

29.4

30.6

37.0

38.5

ROE

9.2%

8.9%

8.4%

1.4%

1.1%

1.0%

1.1%

0.2%

(15.2)

12.0

48.0

(8.9)

ROA

14.2

42.6

85.0

29.6

Growth rate

Operating income

188.6

235.0

263.8

218.3

Asset growth

2.4%

19.9%

3.5%

5.9%

Operating expenses

(91.4)

(92.7)

(89.9)

(91.8)

Loan growth

-4.8%

7.2%

-2.5%

10.5%

12.6

17.3

15.9

15.5

Deposit growth

-12.8%

9.3%

27.1%

14.7%

Capital growth

20.1%

13.6%

15.8%

6.1%

Loans to deposit ratio

124.1%

123.7%

98.8%

99.1%

Loans to asset ratio

49.5%

45.0%

44.1%

47.9%

Liquidity ratio

44.4%

47.1%

45.7%

42.3%

Net non-interest income

Share of profit (loss) of an associate
Reversal of (provision for) impairment
losses
Profit before tax

(47.0)

(92.0)

(115.6)

(129.1)

62.7

67.7

74.2

12.9

Income tax expense

(1.3)

(0.2)

(0.4)

(0.3)

Net profit

61.5

67.5

73.8

12.6

Asset quality

Capital

In 2018 total assets increased by 408.9 billion MNT or 5.9 percent and
reached 7’283.8 billion MNT. Investment securities decreased by 13.2 percent
and reached 1’759.1 billion MNT. Loans and advances (net) increased by
10.5 percent and reached 3’054.7 billion MNT.
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Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio

12.3%

11.2%

14.0%

16.6%

Capital Adequacy Ratio

16.7%

14.6%

17.0%

19.5%

Total liabilities increased by 5.9 percent and reached 6’355.0 billion MNT,
deposits from customers increased by 14.7 percent and reached 3’522.8
billion MNT, and borrowings decreased by 8.7 percent and reached 975.8
billion MNT.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS | CONTENT

2,500

4,000

2,700

2,000

3,000

2,600

1,500

2,000

2,500

1,000

2018

2,300

2017

2018

700

400

50
40
30

875.5

928.8

2017

2018

218.3

759.2
2016

263.8

667.9
2015

50

235.0

100

300

2018

70

150

500

2017

60

200

600

2016

80

250

800

2015

Net profit

300

900

100

2016

Operating income

Total Equity
1000

200

2015

2015

2016

2017

2018

20
10

12.6

2017

73.8

2016

500

67.5

2015

2,400

188.6

1,000

3,522.8

2,800

3,054.7

5,000

2,765.0

3,000

2,835.2

2,900

2,645.0

6,000

7,283.8

3,500

6,874.9

3,000

6,645.2

7,000

5,544.1

4,000

3,070.2

Deposits from customers

3,100

2,415.5

Net Loan and Advances

8,000

61.5

Total Asset

In 2018 interest income increased by 8.4 percent and reached 664.5
billion MNT, interest expense increased by 9.6 percent and reached 475.8
billion MNT, net interest income reached 188.7 billion MNT. Operating
income was 218.3 billion MNT, and net profit after tax was 12.6 billion
MNT.

2,210.0

Total equity increased by 6.1 percent and reached 928.8 billion MNT,
share capital increased by 196.3 billion MNT and reached 265.6 billion
MNT.

2015

2016

2017

2018
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AWARDS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS

“BEST PRIVATE BANK OF
MONGOLIA”
“STANDARD OF STABILITY”

Won the “Best Private Bank
of Mongolia” award from
“Asiamoney” magazine

Received “Standard of Stability”
award from “Euro-Asian Banking and
Finance Association”

2017, 2018

“BEST COMMERCIAL BANK IN
MONGOLIA”
Received “Best Commercial Bank
in Mongolia” award from “Global
Banking & Finance Review”
magazine for the 7th year in a row
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016,
2017, 2018

22

“BEST ACQUIRER”
Visa Worldwide recognized TDB as
the “Best Acquirer.”
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
CHILDREN FRIENDLY BANK
Nationwide renovated 28 schools’ libraries

Supported Save Life project for the 2nd year

For the 28th anniversary of TDB, nationwide we renewed 28 schools’
library renovation project. The project launched in May 2018 and through
the year and the project reached around 50,000 pupils.

The 3rd phase of the project which aimed to reduce neonatal mortality.
Bank donated to the renovation of the post-natal surgical intensive care
unit. The project extended the area of the unit and equipped state of the
art equipment. Within five months after the project, 149 children treated
in the unit.
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Endorsed national content Maamuu

Endorsed the youth soccer players for the 13th year

Signed endorsement agreement with national content creator Mongol
Content LLC to promote Maamuu brand and its characters Aami and Tami
to children further contributes to teaching kids Mongolian traditions

Supported the soccer teams of 14th school for the 13th year and Special
Complex of Youth and Child Education for the 2nd year in the Duulian
2020 tournament. Our youth teams showed magnificent results in winning
several trophies of the competition.

Opened a new chess club in 29th school for Children with
Hearing Aids
To support students with hearing disabilities, TDB renovated one of the
rooms of school to a state of the art chess club equipped with all the
necessary tools and teaching equipment.
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UB Marathon

Attended 29th School New Year

To support children’s wellbeing and athleticism, we endorsed 500 students
of the 61st school and 24th school of Chingeltei district to attend UB
Marathon 2018.

For the 14th year, TDB delivered New Year gifts to more than 350 children
of 29th School for Children with Hearing Aids.
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Successfully organized the “Together through life” campaign

Donate Blood campaign

We hosted a series of 15 events, including several lectures, networking
and book signing events aimed at business owners, entrepreneurs, and
businesswomen.

We participated Blood Donation campaign which promotes donors,
donation of blood organized by National Blood Center. As well as,
promoting the benefits of donating blood to general population.
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Achlalt Khuukhduud NGO

Water for the trees project

We supported Achlalt Khuukhduud NGO, which take care of people with
disabilities and seniors with special needs. We helped finance the purchase
of a new building which has 50 people capacity from 20 people.

TDB supported tree watering project run by “My Club” for the 4th year,
raising monetary fund and assisting with watering of 12000 trees at Tuv
province.
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
In 2018, we set the objective to implement change and renovation management, enabled the employees with the opportunity to continuously learn
and develop themselves, provided salaries and incentives that are competitive in the market, supported the employees’ social issues, and enabled the
employees to work with satisfaction and high productivity.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

| CONTENT

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
In 2018, we had recruited 371 applicants from the

We have trained experts such as Certified Retail

to annually organize the “Health Day Event” for the

labor market and promoted over 280 employees to

Banker, Chartered finance analyst, and Senior

World Health Day with the purpose to support our

support the career development of our employees.

Professional in HR to prepare experts that are

employees’ health, to prevent from possible illnesses

recognized internationally.

and provide information and advice.

Within the scope of the objective to have every

We supported our employees’ social issues by

employee develop themselves, we implemented

decreasing the interest rate of employee mortgage

the “Support program-2018” and granted tuition

loan with different rates depending on years of

refund to 60 employees. Moreover, we awarded

employment.

Training and personal growth of the
employees
We had an independent research company to
conduct

Organizational

culture

research

and

as a result, the top executives in a Five module
management program in 2018.
In 2018, based on the Bank’s policy and employees’
training needs, we improved and developed the
skills of 6897 employees by providing them with
external and internal training. Five thousand five
hundred fifty-four employees were trained in 2017,

scholarships to 3 employees who went to study
abroad to complete higher degrees.

among our employees in order to enable them to

We were the first in the banking and financial sector

spend their free time with their family members and

to obtain the official membership of the Toastmaster

co-workers, to strengthen the friendly atmosphere

international public speaking club and opened the

and increase our pride. We were not only able to

“TDB Toastmaster club” to develop our employees.

make the children happy but also promote the
operations of the Bank. Over 950 employees and

and this number increased by 24% in 2018.

their spouses with over 1300 children were present

We cooperated with Mongolian Bankers Association

We created the “Casual Friday” with the purpose

to invite training officers from Singapore and

to activate employees, increase productivity and

organize a training and mentoring service to

satisfaction, and provide a suitable environment to

improve competency, provide advanced level

work.

knowledge, and learn from international experience
for the employees working in Corporate financing of
commercial banks.

We also organized the “Children’s Day-Family event”

We

at the event and spent a joyful day filled with a warm
atmosphere.
We have successfully organized works such as the
“Speech contest,” “Pride Campaign,” “Facebook

introduced

the

“Health

allowance”

and

“Health leaves” to support the social issues of our
employees and protect their health. Also, we started

activation campaign,” “Internet gratitude” and “Our
Future-Our Banker” within the scope of the “We are
Bankers” campaign organized by the Mongolian
Bankers Association.
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CORPORATE BANKING
The Trade and Development Bank, leader of the corporate business market, has been working to provide fast and reliable financial products and
services into all developing sectors of Mongolia. We have been a pioneer in the industry and have reached the corporate and SME loan portfolio of
the bank to MNT 2.8 trillion, which was enhanced by 10.8% compared to the previous year.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES | CORPORATE BANKING

In 2018, the bank set a goal to support its customers
with a long-termed loan with low-interest financing.

Outstanding balance of Corporate and SME credit
(MNT in Billion)

Interest revenue from Corporate and SME loans
(in MNT billion)

and international markets, fruitful cooperation with
our retail and corporate clients, proper management,
and successful teamwork, the bank’s interest revenue
from the corporate and SME clients reached to MNT
293.8 billion in 2018 which was increased 4.3% and
MNT 12.72 billion more than previous year.

109.19

Furthermore, as an experienced bank that has

In order to fulfill financial needs of suppliers of Oyu

been solely executing majority of the foreign

Tolgoi LLC, the bank has newly introduced loan and

trade settlements of Mongolia, the bank has been

credit line products secured by product and service

awarded “The best trade finance service provider

supply agreements and invoices made with Oyu

of Mongolia” again in 2018 with issuance of Letters

Tolgoi LLC, and issued to the supplier companies the

of Credit and Letters of Guarantee totaling MNT

loans totaling MNT 64.9 billion.

662.96 billion to support purchases, services, cash
flows and financial capacities of our clients.

In 2018, the Bank ensured compliance with the tasks
and criteria set by the Bank of Mongolia in relation

As a successful co-implementer of State policy that

to AQR and committed to improving the quality of

is crucial to country’s development, we participated

lending and customer care. In 2019, the Bank aims

as the sub lender in various programs implemented

to strengthen its market leadership in delivering

by the State Financial Institutions. For instance, we

quality products and services based on customers’

provided following soft loans to our customers: loans

needs.

amounted to MNT 12.5 billion within “Cashmere
programs” implemented by Development Bank of
Mongolia, MNT 6.0 billion within “Additional funding
for agriculture and rural development projects”
program implemented by ADB and Government of
Mongolia.

32

310

As the result of the bank’s reputation in the domestic

305

made out opportunity doing business continuously.

Small,
medium
loans

16

300

the finance cost, enhanced the financial ability, and

288.8

295

low-cost covered loan offer, customers could reduce

2018

2016

290

As a result of the Trade and Development Bank`s

2017

Small,
medium
loans

Large
loans

15.6
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to reach MNT 436.86 billion as of the end of the year.

2016

278.3

25.18

280

above successfully, which helped the source of credit

2,100

2017

275

implemented all financial programs that mentioned

2,200

Large
loans

270

and foreign banks, and financial institutions, TDB has

2,300

281.44

265

Commerzbank, and more than 30 other domestic

2,400

2018

260

(ADB), the Export-Import bank Taiwan (TEXIM),

2,500
2,615.45

Cooperation (JBIC), Asian Development Bank

2,600

2,432.68

Agency (JICA), Japanese Bank for International

2,700

102.6

Bank of Mongolia, Japan International Cooperation

2,357.3

Within the scope of the objectives, the Development

201.64

2,900
2,800

RETAIL BANKING
Retail banking department works towards improving quality and yield of banking products and services, also delivering highly competitive
products based on customer demand through our branches and online channels. In 2018, we focused on increasing the range of potential
products that can be received from distance which customers don’t need to visit branches. Hereby presenting key achievements of the Retail
banking department in the reporting period.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES | RETAIL BANKING
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FOR TREASURED ASSETS:

FOR LOANS:

Focused on promoting the growth of savings,
introducing its benefits to customers and organizing
planned activities to improve customers financial
knowledge. Thus, keeping our product conditions
competitive and allowing the process for each
customer to accumulate savings. Also, lowering
charge fees, enhancing the ability to open their
own savings account by using e-services, and easing
the operation process for employees. Moreover,
we adhered to eliminate duplication of documents,
reduce the required documentations from a customer
and provide more pleasant customer service.

Implemented a policy aimed at providing expeditious
services to customers by reducing the number of
required documents, and introducing innovative
products or services based on new advanced
technology. Also, focused on providing remote
banking services for customers to access loan with
improved condtions, and supporting small and
medium entrepreneurs by minizing the interest rate.

ИРГЭДИЙН ЗАХ ЗЭЭЛ
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EXPANDED DIGITAL BANKING OPERATONS
In our Digital Strategy effort, we improved our core banking system, increased our software and information security capabilities and introduced Omni-channel
platform. The platform creates integrated and cohesive customer experience which doesn’t matter how or where a customer reaches out.

Launched e-commerce consumer loan products with
“Shoppy.mn”

Launched VRemit service to receive money transfer from
South Korea

For the first time in Mongolia, we introduced e-commerce consumer loan
products with Shoppy.mn, to expand our business cooperation, support
the activities of strategic organizations, diversify consumer loan products,
and meet customers’ needs and save their time.

In cooperation with “VP” of South Korea, “VRemit” a service to receive
money transfer was introduced to the market. With this service, you can
make transactions from any bank account in Korea to all bank accounts in
Mongolia at real-time. You can also make transactions wherever you are,
with low fees irrespective of transaction amount.

Citizens, regardless of whether they are bank customers, have opted
to buy any goods with the help of the Trade and Development Bank’s
loan from Shoppy.mn website that offers e-commerce and have ordered
items delivered to customers’ home addresses. This service is based on
advanced technology and artificial intelligence, and it is noteworthy that
we are buying the goods without going to the bank.
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Savings pledged loans are available online remotely regardless
of where and when
In order to save customers time and provide our products in easier and
faster way, we made it available for our customers to put savings pledge
and receive and close the loan under one minute from anywhere using
Trade and Development Bank’s TDB Online service.
Introduced “KHUR” the state information exchange system
In collaboration with the National Data Center, introduced “KHUR” a
system for exchanging information about customers’ loans. Also, with
the help of KHUR system, the customer is no longer has to bring a
variety of documents in which using only his fingerprint and organization
identification to the banking industry.
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Corporate Gateway service increased the number of partners
The number of users and developers of the corporate gateway service
has been increased to the purpose of simplifying operational processes
through inner system integration.
This service is system connecting all banking services through API
with through companies automate the mechanical processes of the
organization and minimize the operational stages to reduce cost and time
saving service will be the next stage of e-banking.
The service is utilized best technology solution companies such as Lend.
mn, Mobicom, Gerege Systems, Shoppy and Skytel companies.

ИРГЭДИЙН ЗАХ ЗЭЭЛ
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OUR EFFORT TO INCREASE THE FINANCIAL LITERACY OF
CHILDREN, YOUTH AND OUR CUSTOMERS
World Savings Day celebrated in the seventh year
The Bank of Mongolia, the Mongolian Bankers Association, the
International Cooperation Fund of the Federal Reserve of Germany
and the commercial banks celebrated the “World Savings Day” for the
seventh year on September and October 2018. In the event, we organized
hand-painted art contest “My Dream” among middle-aged children of
depositors and presented gifts to all those who have participated in the
contest. The children who attended during the “World Savings Day” event
were photographed with “Maamuu” brand heroes, Ami and Tami, who
provided more information about having accumulations and savings.
We have organized the “Future Savings-Tomorrow’s Future” training in
elementary school, providing education for students to understand the
value of money, why money is needed, why it is important to save and
how to spend wisely so that they can earn the benefits of savings in the
future.
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Launched “Maamuu” children’s savings

Received the “Junior customer” for the sixth year

In our mission to provide savings to every child, we cooperated with
“Mongol Content LLC” and successfully launched “Maamuu” a national
brand product for children’s savings. In addition, we have eliminated
transaction fees for a term deposit which has regular transfers to provide
accumulations for all clients as well.

For our customers who have been with us for 18 years, we celebrated
“Junior Customers” event for the 6th years which was held on 11th of
June. During this year’s honorary event, 250 young clients came in contact
with the guests rapper T.Munkh-Erdene (Big Gee), teachers of University of
Mongolia, B.Nandin-Erdene, Executive Director of “Axis Inc.” LLC, Executive
Director of “Call Pro”, founder of the training center “Faro”, B. Ider-Od,
founder of UB Comedy comedian, who has come to the event to share
their experience about making right choices, teaching how to succeed
and be consistent with their goals and singer O.Gantulga entertained
people with his song.

RETAIL BANKING | BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

OTHER
Successfully organized promotional campaign of card holders
during FIFA World cup and Winter Olympics Games
The Trade and Development Bank has organized traditional raffle
campaign to our cardholders to chance to travel a multicultural events of
Winter Olympic Games and FIFA World Cup. The total of 12 card holders
was awarded to participate XXIII Winter Olympics held in PyeongChang
South Korea, and the FIFA World Cup held in Russia. During the FIFA World
Cup, a 10 percent cashback campaign from the purchase transaction
of Unionpay card was held in Russia which improved our card holders’
satisfaction.

Organized MoneyGram’s conference successfully
The bank has been a major international remittance agent for the Bank
of Mongolia, and has successfully organized the “Moneygram Services
Conference”, which included representatives from the Agent banks of
Mongolia.
From 14 June 2018, the Trans bank entered into a
MoneyGram service with 7th agent bank member of Mongolia to sign up
the cooperation Agreement.
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Increased species of the joint card

Insurance intermediary service

Trade and Development Bank past 15 years since the first joint card with
its target segment, based on discount.

Increased the number of income-earned ATMs

The principle goal of our bancassurance business is to protect our clients’
interest, or more precisely, to ensure our clients get indemnity according to
the policy. In 2018, our clients received insurance compensation amount of
MNT 1.7 billion through our insurance brokerage activity. Although we act
on behalf of our clients, we focus on our cooperating insurers generating
sustainable and profitable net premium income within a stringent risk
framework. In the reporting year, we brokered insurance premium amount
of MNT 5.7 billion, which is the highest in the bancassurance sector.

The Bank’s service has increased the satisfaction of its clients by increasing
the number of ATMs that are earning money to provide customers with
quick service, regardless of their location as well as customer service
centers, shopping centers, and branches.

In the coming year, we plan to embed digital transformation into our
bancassurance activity and make it possible that our clients to choose
whichever channel they prefer, be it the branch or our front-end
applications, such as our smartphone and tablet app.

In the past year, Ulaanbaatar Railways introduced a unified payroll card
with special design for employees. In addition, the joint credit card for
Invescore NBFI’s customers and Nexus Finance’s customers was introduced
to the market.
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TREASURY MANAGEMENT
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Foreign exchange market operation

Money market operation

In the financial reporting year of 2018, the Bank set a goal of increasing its
foreign exchange volume by more than 30 percent whilst maintaining its
leading position in the market, and successfully increased its turnover by
41.2 percent from the previous year.

The Bank, in this reporting period, maintained its position in domestic
money market whilst continuously meeting reserve requirements and
complying with regulatory minimas set by Bank of Mongolia. Furthermore,
the Bank expanded its scope of work and increased its interest income by
allocating free foreign currency reserves into the low risk profile and high
yield assets in short to medium term as well as trading debt instruments
and bonds at the international market.

Due to the stable macroeconomic environment and economic recovery,
such as increased foreign trade, investment, consumption and reduced
budget deficit, the Bank implemented flexible foreign exchange service
to the customers in order to meet their needs and necessities as well as
having Japanese yen transaction volume to be doubled comparing to the
previous year, which was one of the highlighting performance.
The Bank has taken a course of actions to improve its operation and
mitigate the risk as a result of uncertainty of the local and foreign market
prospect while regularly providing market updates and financial advisory
to the customers.
Moreover, the Bank was selected as a primary dealer in a third row to the
interbank auction system managed by the Bank of Mongolia. In futher, the
Bank has been working to develop and implement products and services
met international standards.
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In the scope of its mission, the Bank plans to expand its coperation with
inernational banks and financial institutions, improve the efficiency and
utilization of foreign reserves while retaining our leading position in 2019.
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Asset and liability management

Custodian services

In the reporting year, the Bank`s total assets and deposits from customers
were increased by 6.3 percent and 14.3 percent respectively where equity
was increased by 10.4 percent as a result of numerous actions taken
to protect deposist of the customers, meet customers` demands and
enhance risk bearing capacity. Thus, the successful increase of capital and
equity reflected and remarked Bank`s credibility to the customers and
international repuation.

The Bank, in the reporting year, focused on increasing the number of
customers, delivering products and services promt and easily.

In the environment of economic recovery and reduced business risk,
the Bank successfully managed credit and liquidity risk as well as capital
planning which resulted a decrease in weighted average rate of deposit
and lending compared to previous reporting year. Furthermore, the Bank
continues to improve the optimal balance structure, efficiency of operation
and growth planning.

In particular, the Bank introduced digit signatures to the customers
and securities companies which enabled them to withdraw money
online through joint settlement accounts. By expanding incorporation
with brokerage firms, the Bank executed a total of MNT 103.7 billion
settelement transactions under clearing service which accounted for
24.4 percent of total securities market settlements. The Bank offered a
securities safekeeping services under a custody service based on a mutual
agreements signed with private investment fund and local banks.
In 2019, the Bank aims to improve its custodian banking products and
introduce services that met the financial needs of entrepreneurs and
investors over commitment of bringing its operations to international
standards.
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INTERNATIONAL BANKING, FOREIGN RELATIONS
Project loans

Correspondent banking
TDB, the leading international bank in Mongolia,
has a long standing, stable relationship with
more than 150 international reputable banks
and financial institutions. The bank, leveraging
on its extensive network of international
partner banks, handling more than 80% of
the country’s international remittances and
providing financing with favorable terms to
our customers, funded by our international
counterparts. Total financing obtained from
international banks and financial institutions in
2018 reached USD290.5 million, including, USD
70 million funding from VTB bank of Russia and
credit lines by TransKapitalBank, International
Investment Bank, Bank of Inner Mongolia
have been increased and reached at USD 8.5
million, EUR10 million, and CNY 200 million
respectively. Moreover, in April 2018, TDB
concluded a “Syndicated Facility Agreement”

with Baoshang Bank and Huishang Bank of
China, and received the funding of CNY250
million. The deal is noteworthy as it was the
first inter-bank syndicated facility agreement
between Mongolian and Chinese banks that
allows the bank to provide necessary financing
for Mongolia-China joint projects.
The bank further expanded its multilateral
cooperation with its counterparts and
established a “Comprehensive Cooperation
Agreement” with International Bank for
Economic Cooperation of Russia on June 8th
2018.

TDB has been providing essential financing to
small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs),
corporates and retail customer to expand their
business, to support our customers to export
and introduce their products to international
markets through on-lending programs
with Asian Development Bank (ADB), Japan
International Cooperation Agency (JICA),
Japan Bank for International Cooperation
(JBIC), and KFW Bank of Germany. For instance,
between 2016 and 2018, TDB obtained 30% of
total funding provided under the second phase
of ADB’s program to finance our customers’
business.

TBD, dedicated to continually support our
customers’ foreign trade activities, has been
financing significant portion of the country’s
trade. In 2018, total trade finance line obtained
from 52 reputable international banks reached
USD 750 million.
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Corporate Relations

TDB’s Representative Office in Tokyo

An advanced payment system has been
introduced. Trade and Development Bank
always strives to introduce solutions that
fully meets financial needs of our customers.
For instance, in the reporting period TDB, in
cooperation with Oyutolgoi LLC, introduced
the Automated Wire Transfer Service, based
on FTP protocol. The service is a new option
for our customers to execute large number
of transactions without having to visit bank
branch, or use online banking platform.

Starting from November 2018, TDB through its
Representative Office in Tokyo has successfully
been received MNT funding in form of
crowd-funding from Japan’s financial market
in cooperation with Japan’s Crowdcredit
company, for the first time from Mongolia.
The deal opens up an opportunity for other
Mongolian entities to tap the market as well.

Pension loan interest rate has been reduced.
TDB has been expanding its cooperation with
the Social Insurance General Office following
the 2016-2020 Action Program of the
Government of Mongolia to gradually reduce
pension loan interest rate. As a result, pension
loan interest rate has been reduced from 18%
to 15% in 2017 and to 12% in 2018. Number
of pensioners to receive their pension through
TDB has been doubled in 2018.
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Trade and Development Bank, has signed
cooperation agreement with Japan’s Tryfund
LLC through its Representative Office in Tokyo
on August 8th 2018 and has introduced an
online M&A platform which allows electronic
correspondence and investment deals between
Mongolian and Japanese entities.

TDB’s Tokyo Representative Office provided
consulting service to Dentsu Artist Inc., one of
the largest advertising agencies of Japan, to
open its subsidiary Dentsu Data Artist Mongolia
LLC in Ulaanbaatar. Tokyo Representative Office
has been providing consulting services to
Japanese entities and supporting them with all
the necessary information to enter Mongolian
markets.

TDB CAPITAL LLC
With dedication to foster its clients’ business development and active participation in the financial markets, TDB Capital LLC offers comprehensive investment banking services including
corporate finance, securities trading, research analysis and professional advisory services consistent with international standards and practices.
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Investment banking service

Securities trading

Based on its experience working with reputable, international investment
banks, the Company provided underwriting services for issuing debt,
equity, other financial instruments and private placements, and offering
custom solutions for other financial need, M&A, restructuring and advisory
services for corporates. In the reporting period, the Company worked
on multiple financial advisory and private placement deals, and started
preparation of local public issuances of the clients.

Making a significant contribution to the development of the financial
markets infrastructure in Mongolia, the Company made a complete
overhaul of its “TDB Broker” online trading system in the reporting period.
With improved user interface, the system is connected directly to the
Mongolian stock exchange and gives our clients the ability to participate
in securities trading, monitor settlement and securities account, observe
order book, do technical analysis, access professional research coverages,
and get constant news or information updates in real-time. As a leading
security company in the capital market, the Company executed a total
amount of MNT 71.6 billion trade in 2018, accounting for 18.1 percent of
the total stock trade on the Mongolian Stock Exchange.

Moreover, the Company created interactive guides about capital market
introduction, participating in trade and issuing securities on the MSE in
order to help improve financial literacy of capital market participants and
increase market transparency. The Company has also started publishing
reports about aggregate statistics and data on the local capital market,
and quantitative analyses of listed companies for our clients.

TDB Capital is aiming to expand its brokerage services and introduce
intermediation services for international markets in the future.

TDB Capital total trade
/MNT billion/

100.0
80.0
60.0
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TDB LEASING LLC
TDB leasing LLC is an innovative financial leasing company jointly established Trade Development Bank of Mongolia and MG Leasing Corporation of Japan. Our
operation has been expanded successfully by making financial leasing for 115 million US Dollars for over 3800 units of leasing item for the past 5 years which
makes TDB Leasing LLC one of the biggest leasing company in Mongolia.
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Our suppliers
TDB Leasing LLC has cooperation with over 30
companies, which are top of their respective
fields, supplying all kind of equipment to the
fields that are making important contribution to
the development of the economy and society
in Mongolia such as mining, infrastructure,
construction, road transportation, agriculture
and manufacturing.

“SHIMA SEIKI”

"CLAAS”

“KOMATSU”

"GLORY”

“HYUNDAI”

"Benz” (Germany)
“FUSO” (Japan)
“John Deere"

(Japan)

(Japan)

(Korea)

“CATERPILLAR"
(U.S.A)

Total amount of financial leasing services
/USD Million/

(Germany)

(Japan)

"Liebherr”
(Germany)

"XCMG” (China)
“SINOTRUCK” (China)

70
60

"Doosan”
(Korea)

50

"HITACHI”

40

(Japan)

(USA)

30

"LIUGONG”

20
21.52

29.46

31.93

60

(China)

16.68

10

"CNH”

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

"ISUZU
(Japan)"

"SANDVIK”
(Finland)

"Toyota
Yanmar etc."

"YOKOHAMA”
(Japan)

VOLVO
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SUZUKI

Lovol, Foton

UAZ Patriot

BELAZ

Nissan, Renault

Sysmex

Toyota

Mines up

Yutong

Japan used car

SDLG

Europharma

Dayun, Reddot, Cabr/M

SOYOLON
INTERNATIONAL

Sanme, Eriez, Lenham,
Multotec

Japan used car

Kubota

Toyota

Shantui
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Early detection of all relevant risks to which the entity is exposed in respect of its business activities, proper assessment of these risks, and effective
mitigations, moreover, ability to shift risks into opportunities are the key to stability of any financial institutions.
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The Bank put emphasis on assessing the Bank’s
credit, market, liquidity and customer’s E&S risk,
and mitigating risk, preventing risk, monitoring
and ensuring Bank’s continuity of operation
as well as improving staff’s knowledge and
awareness of risk. The Bank paid attention to
dissemination and nurturing for strong risk
culture within the bank in the reporting period.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
In the reporting year, the Bank classified
respective loans and established associated
loss provisions in accordance with “Asset
classification, loan loss provisioning and its
allocation” which has been approved by Bank
of Mongolia, and fully met prudential ratios.
The Credit Risk Management Unit assessed
loan portfolio concentration risk collectively,
by sector, product, currency, etc., and detailed
macroeconomic research has been done for
each case. Based on the findings, loan policy
has been developed and adhered.
The Credit risk management unit implements
risk management standards and guidance
issued by international and local regulatory
bodies to Bank operation. For this purpose,
following activities have been implemented.

Non-performing loans in the banking sector
increased in 2018 due to findings of AQR,
the adjustments made based on the findings
conducted under IMF’s “Extended Fund Facility
Program”, and unfavorable economic situations
in the previous years. Non-performing loan
is the main driver for reducing bank asset,
deteriorating profitability and capital adequacy,
furthermore, hampering availability of funds for
new loan, and accessibility of loans. Thus, TDB
established a working group with the purpose
of reducing non-performing loans in the last
quarter. The working group has successfully
completed a number of activities to reform
the non-performing asset management and
operating procedures.

Moreover, the Bank needs to have a system
that allows to monitor credit quality, manage
problematic loan as well as to enable early
detection and mitigation. Thereby the Bank
has embedded risk-based review process in
the relevant loan regulations and intensified
the process of reducing non-performing loans.

In addition, the Bank has developed an action
plan as set out in the “ Guidance provided
by Solvency review report of Mongolian
commercial banks” under the Asset Quality
Review (AQR). Changes for the improvements
in credit risk assessment and risk management
system have been reflected in the relevant
internal policies and procedures. In particular,
amendments have been developed in the
operational rules for Risk Management
Committee to maintain appropriate risk
management framework. Especially, credit risk
appetite and limits has been provided in detail.

• We focused on enhancing the collateral
appraisal methodology. As part of this
work, our risk officers were provided with
trainings and took an exam to acquire
Specialized appraiser certificate

In 2018, a number of projects have been started
in order to develop the Bank’s risk management
system and to achieve international standards.
• In connection with the expected changes
in the BoM’s standards of monitoring
and review, research has been done on
implementation of international standards,
project preparation has been completed.

• Regarding to change in international
financial reporting standard, preparation
for transiton to IFRS 9 for credit risk
assessment and calculation of loan
impairment has been done.
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MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Under the framework of Market risk
management, researches on political, social,
economic and regulatory environment, and its
changes as well as impact of unusual market
conditions and changes in the main economic
sectors on Bank’s business operation have
been done and the findings were provided
to Bank Management, ALCO and related
bank units. Moreover, liquidity, exchange rate
and counterparty risk management and risk
calculation methods have been improved and
aligned to international standards.
In reporting year, automation of Bank liquidity
GAP report has been improved, which led to
enhanced identification and prediction of risks
and increased effectiveness of report.
Within the framework to improve interest risk
management, research has been done on
making the calculation Bank loan base rate
more sophisticated. As a result, “Matched
maturity marginal cost of funds” method
offered by Basel Committee for Banking
Supervision has been introduced.
Within the framework to improve exchange
rate risk management, we have initiated the
process of making the automatic calculation of
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VaR. By making this calculation automatic, the
risks stemming from human factors and the
time expenditure can be decreased.
In regards to managing market risk, we have
researched methodologies to conduct stress
tests on the Bank’s financial statements and
conducted exchange rate stress tests on the
loan portfolio and balance sheet, and collateral
market value stress tests on our mortgage loan
portfolio. As a result, we were able to deliver
relevant information to our employees to take
proper actions based on the findings.
Additionally, we have created risk dashboards
on our internal reporting program and
improved the management information
systems related to market risk management.
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT
As part of the goal to operate sustainably
over the long term with positive impact on the
environment and the society by preventing
and reducing negative impact of its operation,
the Bank, before making a financial decision,
assesses the environmental and social risks
of its clients’ business operations and sets
covenants and requirements to mitigate those
risks where needed. Moreover, the Bank aims

to support businesses that are environmentally
friendly, and contribute to the development of
“GREEN” finance as well as mitigating E&S risks
of its operation.
In our efforts to implement Sustainable
Finance principles in all stages of operation,
we strived to improve the skills and knowledge
of all employees of the bank, especially our
loan officers in the past year. Altogether 669
of our employees were provided with trainings
on environmental and social risk management
system in 2018.
Trade and Development Bank has issued
873 “green” loans in 2018 including those
designated to reduce air pollution, increase
energy and water use efficiency, reduce waste
generation as well as those related to renewable
energy, and eco-friendly cars etc. In the future,
TDB plans to promote development of green
loan products and the growth of green loans.

RISK MANAGEMENT | BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Cambodian delegates from banks and financial institutions visit TDB
Cambodian representatives from banks and financial institutions visited Ulaanbaatar to learn about Mongolian Sustainable Finance Initiative which is
successfully being implemented by banks and financial institutions of Mongolia. During the visit, TDB shared its experience of effectively implementing
Environmental and social risk management system in its operation.

“ToC Leader” Bank of 2018
TDB, as The ToC (Sustainable Finance) Leader Bank of 2018, co-organized the Sustainable Finance Forum of 2018 with Mongolian Bankers’ Association, and
Mongolian Sustainable Finance Association successfully.
Introductory seminars on Sustainable Finance Initiative organized at universities
Social responsibility is generally understood as being the method through which a bank achieves cultural and governance excellence and it is unquestionably
important to inform the public on relevant information on the environment and the society and increase the knowledge of green finance. For the first time,
TDB organized an introductory seminar on the importance of Sustainable Finance Initiative and TDB’s Environmental and Social Risk Management System
for 3rd and 4th year students of National University of Mongolia and University of Finance and Economics.
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ЭРСДЭЛИЙН УДИРДЛАГА

Operational Risk Management
The Bank has successfully implemented “Risk
and Control Self-Assessment” an international
standardized methodology in order to increase
effectiveness of operational risk management.
This methodology has the advantage of
identifying, assessing and managing risks at
the risk-owner (units and employees) level,
therefore, it enhances risk-based decisionmaking and helps to develop operational risk
mapping.
The Bank has emphasized on IT risk
management in the past year and has
undertaken a risk assessment on operations
related to it in line with international best
practices. Hence, the bank ensures to cover IT
risk factors when undertaking risk assessment
on banking products and services. Therefore,
under the requirements of PCIDSS standards
a risk assessment has been completed for
the second year in order to comply with its
certifications.

56

We have efficiently managed operational
risks in the internal factors, external factors,
programs and system failures, during the
reporting period. Moreover, we have improved
our internal system to prevent potential risks
of customer transactions, performance failures
and mechanical errors.
Compliance
In reporting year, the bank has implemented
regulatory compliance in its operations by
enhancing the responsibilities and participation
of all bank employees, with focus on the
formation of compliance culture in the Bank.
All the while, the bank has been conducting
its business activities according to applicable
laws and legal acts, other rules and regulations
established by local and international
regulatory authorities including Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(AML/CFT) provisions.
In 2018, foreign correspondent banks
requirements and regulatory rules and
regulations have become tighter than
before and this has heightened the risk in
correspondent relationships of Mongolia’s

banking industry as an effect. In addition,
the FATF-Asia Pacific Group (APG) published
the Mongolia’s mutual evaluation report on
AML/CTF measures. With regards to these
external circumstances, we have specified and
enhanced our anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing internal control
program, as well as KYC measures, and the
RBA applications.
In order to support reliable and stable business
relationships, the bank uses last updated
version of Wolfsberg group’s correspondent
banking due diligence questionnaire (CBDDQ)
for conducting KYC due diligence on foreign
financial institutions.
The bank, as well as complying its internal
operations, policies and procedures with
international requirements, has set an objective
to eliminate compliance-related risks in its
international relations and the various services
it provides to its customers through the active
cooperation of all stakeholders and supported
all possible cooperative activities by preventing
possible risks related to the country’s economy,
foreign trade and investment.

| BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
TDB uses the latest hardware and software technologies in order to provide constant and reliable banking operations, delivery products and services that meet customer’s needs, increase
efficiency of employee’s workforce, and as well as to ensure endless and secure work procedure of the bank, have advanced technology and tools that are met by international standards.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES | INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Bank’s service has become more
accessible and simple for customers.
TDB, in accounting period, accomplished
works that are customers are able to get
bank services by online and their particular
information through an internet, simple
software to execute payments and settlements
easily, implemented IT projects and programs
that can provide technology opportunity and
advantages.
Launched Online Lending service, made full
integration with “KHUR” and “DAN” systems of
public service. As a result, customers are able
to get a loan and other banking services by
online and obtain references from the public
information from the bank branches.
To ensure quick and secure service of the
banking information system, implemented
major hardware, software updates and
solutions.
Bank’s main software system, database, server,
service, devices and its operating system,
information security, card encryption on
employee’s systems are successfully verified by
PCI-DSS (Payment Card Industry Data Security
Standard) standards again.
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Capital market service has been more accessible
to customers and customers are able to get
various information, execute primary and
secondary market trading by online, receive
exchange rate trading execution in real-time,
getting information from ordering database by
online.
Moved Bank’s Disaster Recovery Center to a
remote location from Ulaanbaatar city in order
to suit Mongol Bank’s requirement.
Prepared hardware and software to introduce
Diebold Nixdorf ATM which is possible to
make cash deposit and cash withdrawal on the
market.
Within the VISA PayWave issuing project,
we have successfully implemented Card
certification test which is to make International
VISA cards of our collaborative banks (such as
Ulaanbaatar City Bank, National Investment
Bank of Mongolia, Capitron Bank, Chinggis
Khaan Bank, Bogd Bank, and Arig Bank) into
VISA PayWave contactless card technology,
also successfully performed card certification
test to make Bogd bank, TransBank’s
international Union Pay cards into chip based
cards technology.

By implementing project of IPPOS which is
merchant POS terminal works to connecting
with cashier machine, successfully integrated
with large organizations such as Monos, Circle K
and Sansar supermarket. This solution includes
many advantages, reducing unit terminal cost,
reducing receipt cost, and providing quick
service.

NOSTRO ACCOUNTS | BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

NOSTRO ACCOUNTS
Currency

USD

EUR

JPY

GBP

№

Correspondent Bank

SWIFT CODE

1

ING BELGIUM NV/SA

BBRUBEBB

2

BANK OF CHINA (HONG KONG) LIMITED

BKCHHKHH

3

BAOSHANG BANK

BTCBCNBJ

4

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

5

KOOKMIN BANK

CZNBKRSE

6

EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA

EXIRRUMM

7

BANK OF INNER MONGOLIA CO.,LTD.

HSSYCNBH001

8

INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA

ICBKCNBJNMA

9

UNICREDIT BANK AO

IMBKRUMM

10

KEB HANA BANK

KOEXKRSE

11

OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED

OCBCSGSG

12

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION

PCBCCNBJNME

13

JSC ROSSELKHOZBANK

RUAGRUMM

14

SBERBANK (HEAD OFFICE - ALL BRANCHES AND OFFICES IN RUSSIA)

SABRRUMM

15

TRANSKAPITALBANK

TJSCRUMM

16

VTB BANK (PJSC)

VTBRRUMM

17

ING BELGIUM NV/SA

BBRUBEBB

18

EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA

EXIRRUMM

19

TRANSKAPITALBANK

TJSCRUMM

20

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

21

MUFG BANK, LTD.

BOTKJPJT

22

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

23

MIZUHO BANK, LTD.

MHCBJPJT

24

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION

SMBCJPJT

25

BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., THE

BOTKGB2L

26

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

27

TRANSKAPITALBANK

TJSCRUMM
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CHF
AUD
KRW

CNY

CAD

RUB

NZD
HKD
SGD
SEK
TRY
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28

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

29

AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND BANKING GROUP LIMITED

ANZBAU3M

30

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

31

KOOKMIN BANK

CZNBKRSE

32

KEB HANA BANK

KOEXKRSE

33

AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA

ABOCCNBJ050

34

BANK OF CHINA /ERLIAN BRANCH/

BKCHCNBJ880

35

BANK OF CHINA (HONG KONG) LIMITED

36

BAOSHANG BANK

37

BANK OF INNER MONGOLIA CO.,LTD.

38

INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA

ICBKCNBJNMA

39

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORPORATION

PCBCCNBJNME

40

SHANGHAI PUDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK

BKCHHKHH
BTCBCNBJ
HSSYCNBH001

SPDBCNSH

41

BANQUE NATIONALE DU CANADA

42

COMMERZBANK AG

BNDCCAMMINT
COBADEFF

43

EXIMBANK OF RUSSIA

EXIRRUMM

44

UNICREDIT BANK AO

IMBKRUMM

45

JSC ROSSELKHOZBANK

RUAGRUMM

46

SBERBANK (BAIKALSKY HEAD OFFICE)

SABRRU66

47

TRANSKAPITALBANK

TJSCRUMM

48

VTB BANK (PJSC)

VTBRRUMM

49

ANZ BANK NEW ZEALAND LIMITED

ANZBNZ22

50

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

51

BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., THE

BOTKHKHH

52

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

53

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

54

OVERSEA-CHINESE BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED

OCBCSGSG

55

COMMERZBANK AG

COBADEFF

56

NORDEA BANK AB (PUBL)

NDEASESS
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Secretary of Bank

D. Davaajav
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KPMG Samjong Accounting Corp.
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KPMG Samjong Accounting Corp.
Gangnam Finance Center, 27th Floor,
152 Teheran-ro
Gangnam-gu, Seoul 06236
Republic of Korea

Key Audit Matters
Tel. 82-2-2112-0100
Fax. 82-2-2112-0101
www.kr.kpmg.com

Independent Auditors’ Report

Allowance for loan losses
For a qualitative and quantitative description of the management of credit risks, including impaired loans and
securities, we refer to note 36 of the financial statements. With regard to significant accounting policies and critical
accounting estimates, we refer to note 3 of the financial statements. For information on loans and allowance levels,
we refer to notes 7 and 28 of the financial statements.

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Trade and Development Bank of Mongolia LLC:
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Trade and Development Bank of Mongolia (the “Bank”),
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the statements of
comprehensive income (loss), the statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the years
then ended, and notes comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as modified by Bank of Mongolia (“BOM”)
guidelines.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Mongolia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of Matters
As described in note 1 to the financial statements, the Bank sold its subsidiaries in order to comply with the Banking
Law of Mongolia. Thus, as at 31 December 2018, the Bank does not hold any investment in subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures.
We draw attention to Note 39 to the financial statements, which describes that in March 2019 the Government of
Mongolia (the ‘Government’) announced that it has placed under an emergency regime for six months the state
owned entity Erdenet Mining Corporation LLC (‘EMC’). During the period of the emergency regime, the
Government of Mongolia plans to inspect financial documents including the Bank’s relationship with EMC and the
funding of the acquisition of a 49% stake in EMC by Mongolian Copper Corporation (‘MCC’), which was advised,
and the transaction was partially funded by the Bank. The Government alleges irregularities in the funding of this
acquisition, and the Bank has material exposures in its loans and prepayments for construction in progress to
companies that the Government alleges funded this acquisition. As the Government’s inspection of financial
documents under the emergency regime for six months at EMC is currently in progress, the ultimate outcome of
the matter cannot presently be determined. Accordingly no provision for any effects on the Bank that may result,
has been made in the financial statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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오류!
알려지지
문서matters
속성
Key audit
matters
are않은
those
that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
이름입니다.
the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a opinion on these
matters.

The Financial Statement Risk
As of the reporting date, the Bank reports loans and advances, net of loan loss provisions of MNT 436,666,656
thousand, in the amount of MNT 3,054,731,766 thousand, representing 41.9% of total assets. In the financial year
2018, the Bank recorded an amount of MNT 129,204,862 thousand as provision for impairment losses in the
statements of comprehensive income.
The financial statement risk arises particularly from estimation of uncertainties in the calculation of assessed loan
loss allowance which are based upon judgmental assumptions including assessments of proceeds from collateral
in accordance with the guidelines from Bank of Mongolia (BOM).
As part of our risk assessment, we identified the Asset Quality Review (AQR) Results from BOM in 2018 as a
significant risk, due to bank-specific challenges.
Our Audit Approach
In order to perform a risk assessment and to plan our audit procedures, we obtained an understanding the
accounting environment for financial institutions in Mongolia and the guidelines for loan evaluation revised by BOM
etc. In addition, we assessed the Bank’s processes and key indicators used to derive the allowance for loan losses.
Based on our risk assessment, we established an audit approach including control and substantive testing.
In our controls testing, we assessed the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over approval, recording, monitoring and restructuring of loans and loan loss allowance.
In addition, we performed substantive audit procedures for the loans on a sample basis. These include but are not
limited to the procedures to:
test appropriateness of the loan classification,
test the accuracy of the delinquency information by the relevant IT application controls,
test the Bank’s assessment of the qualitative factors by challenging key assumptions applied by the Bank,
compare the Bank’s classification against our understanding of the relevant industries, business,
environment and the requirements of the BOM’s guidelines for provisioning,
recalculate the loan loss provisions etc.
Our Observations
Based on the results of our testing of controls and substantive audit procedures, we consider the allowance for
loan losses in accordance with BOM guidelines to be reasonable.
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Other Information

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The annual report
is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
IFRS as modified by BOM guidelines and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Other Matter
This report is made solely to the members of the Bank, as a body, those in connection with the potential offering
of US dollar notes by the Bank, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for
the content of this report.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Wang-Moon Kim.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:



Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
5

KPMG Samjong Accounting Corp.
Seoul, Korea
29 March 2019

This report is effective as at 29 March 2019, the audit report date. Certain subsequent events or circumstances,
which may occur between the audit report date and the time of reading this report, could have a material impact
on the accompanying financial statements and notes thereto. Accordingly, the readers of the audit report should
understand that the above audit report has not been updated to reflect the impact of such subsequent events or
circumstances, if any.
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

Note

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

1,294,793,495
1,759,141,556
3,054,731,766
397,500,104
2,776,409
80,114,526
2,723,159
627,139,041
64,869,626

1,073,933,382
2,026,286,707
60,841,264
2,764,974,569
11,981,945
324,138,590
2,587,186
91,951,413
2,808,306
515,421,954
-

7,283,789,682

6,874,925,316

Assets
Cash and due from banks
Investment securities
Investment in subsidiaries and associates
Loans and advances, net
Bills purchased under resale agreements
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Investment property
Foreclosed real properties, net
Other assets
Non-current assets held for sale

4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14

Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Interest income
Interest expense

23
24

Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Other operating income(expense), net

25
26

Net non-interest income
Operating profit
Operating expense
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures
Provision for impairment losses

27
6
28

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by banks and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Borrowings
Current taxes liabilities
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities

15
16
17
18
19
20

Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Revaluation reserves
Accumulated unrealised gain on available-for-sale financial assets
Accumulated unrealised gain on valuation of cash flow hedges
Retained earnings
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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21
21
9, 22
22
22

3,522,766,676
182,007,964
65,000,000
975,825,981
1,461,246,758
148,162,221

3,070,233,636
243,907,591
129,960,388
1,068,669,444
20,303
1,344,633,676
141,967,647

6,355,009,600

5,999,392,685

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

664,509,719
(475,765,337)

612,882,220
(434,121,831)

188,744,382

178,760,389

38,524,029
(8,929,419)

37,039,956
47,974,223

29,594,610

85,014,179

218,338,992

263,774,568

(91,779,552)
15,491,654
(129,089,040)

(89,930,081)
15,858,850
(115,562,031)

12,962,054

74,141,306

(322,324)

(381,360)

12,639,730

73,759,946

(782,428)

3,022,199

22

(2,984,025)

(16,497,585)

22

(42,973,435)

57,466,279

30

Net profit for the year

Liabilities
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Note

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in revaluation reserves of
property and equipment

9, 22

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Net unrealised change in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
Net unrealised gain (loss) on valuation of
cash flow hedges

50,000,011
19,272,456
130,014,323
13,721,669
72,371,681
590,152,491

Other comprehensive income (loss)

(46,739,888)

43,990,893

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

(34,100,158)

117,750,839

Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

12,639,730
-

73,759,946
-

928,780,082

875,532,631

Net profit for the year

12,639,730

73,759,946

7,283,789,682

6,874,925,316

Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

(34,100,158)
-

117,750,839
-

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

(34,100,158)

117,750,839

55,205,582
210,393,158
129,231,895
10,738,119
29,398,246
493,813,082

Profit attributable to:

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Changes in Equity
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

Note

Share

Share

capital

premium

50,000,011

1 January 2018

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
Accumulated Accumulated
unrealised
unrealised
gain(loss) on
gain(loss) on
availablevaluation of
Revaluation
for-sale
cash flow
Retained
reserves
financial assets
hedges
earnings

19,272,456 130,014,323

13,721,669

(Unit : MNT’000)

Total

72,371,681 590,152,491

875,532,631

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity
- 875,532,631

Total comprehensive income (loss)
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net unrealised change in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
Net change in revaluation reserves of
property and equipment
Net unrealised loss on valuation of
cash flow hedges
Total other comprehensive income (loss)

Transactions with shareholders
Issuance of new shares
Additional provision related to
Asset Quality Review result

-

-

-

-

-

12,639,730

12,639,730

-

12,639,730

22

-

-

-

(2,983,550)

-

-

(2,984,025)

-

(2,984,025)

9, 22

-

-

(782,428)

-

-

7,690,861

6,908,433

-

6,908,433

22

-

-

-

-

(42,973,435)

-

(42,973,435)

- (42,973,435)

-

-

(782,428)

(2,983,550)

(42,973,435)

7,690,861

(39,049,027)

- (39,049,027)

5,205,571 191,120,702

-

-

-

-

196,326,273

- 196,326,273

- (116,670,000) (116,670,000)

- (116,670,000)

21

31 December 2018

-

-

55,205,582 210,393,158 129,231,895

-

-

10,738,119

29,398,246 493,813,082

928,780,082

- 928,780,082

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Changes in Equity, Continued
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

Note
1 January 2017

Share

Share

capital

premium

50,000,011

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
Accumulated Accumulated
unrealised
unrealised
gain(loss) on
gain on
availablevaluation of
Capital
Revaluation
for-sale
cash flow
adjustment
reserves
financial assets
hedges

19,272,456

(1,583,600) 126,992,124

30,219,254

(Unit : MNT’000)

Retained
earnings

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity

Total

14,905,402 516,572,740 756,378,387

2,772,338 759,150,725

-

Total comprehensive income
Net profit for the year

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income
Net unrealised change in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
22
Net change in revaluation reserves of
9, 22
property and equipment
Net unrealised loss on valuation of
cash flow hedges
22
Total other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,583,600

-

-

50,000,011

19,272,456

- 130,014,323

13,721,669

-

-

-

73,759,946

73,759,946

-

73,759,946

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(16,497,585)

-

- (16,497,585)

-

(16,497,585)

3,022,199

-

-

-

3,022,199

-

3,022,199

-

-

57,466,279

-

57,466,279

-

57,466,279

3,022,199

(16,497,585)

57,466,279

-

43,990,893

-

43,990,893

-

(180,195)

1,403,405 (2,772,338)

(1,368,933)

Other
Change in consolidation scope, etc.,
31 December 2017

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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72,371,681 590,152,491 875,532,631

- 875,532,631

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Cash Flows, Continued
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017
Note
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures
Loss(Gain) on disposal of securities
Loss on disposal of investment in subsidiary
Loss(Gain) on disposal of investment
in associates and joint ventures
Net interest income
Dividend income
Income tax expense
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Loss on disposal of investment property
Property and equipment written off
Provision for impairment losses
Valuation gain on investment property
Valuation gain on property and equipment

73,759,946

9, 10, 27
6
26
26

9,605,279
(15,858,850)
(14,168,548)
-

26
23, 24
26
30
26
26
27
28
11, 26
9

9,839,472
(188,744,382)
(44,661)
322,324
(54,545)
1,806,391
41,279
129,089,040
(1,463,673)
-

(8,556,355)
(178,760,389)
381,360
(4,868)
140,534
115,562,031
(3,027,463)
(117,643)

(28,519,202)

(21,044,966)

(42,412,826)
(475,869,052)
11,981,945
(103,343,997)
452,533,040

(70,864,203)
(45,631,007)
(11,981,945)
4,000,000
176,213,881
654,704,530

(61,899,627)
(2,682,535)
621,528,007
44,661
(457,975,935)
(342,627)

100,699,920
(60,443,040)
579,971,677
(435,529,091)
(374,540)

(86,958,148)

869,721,216

6,845,310
(498,874,879)
774,578,560
895,711
11,494,169
(66,993,120)
64,358
(1,644,483)
468,726

(734,444,700)
231,267,801
24,387,146
(3,980,119)
7,710
(446,628)
-

226,883,013

(483,208,790)

4, 32
8
13
15
16
20

5
5
6
9
9
10
11
12

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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2017
MNT’000

9,627,054
(15,491,654)
3,154,611
10,759,812

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Disposal of subsidiary
Purchase of investment securities
Disposal of investment securities
Disposal of investment in associates and joint ventures
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of foreclosed real properties

2018
MNT’000
12,639,730

Operating profit before changes in operating
assets and liabilities:
Increase in balances with BOM
Increase in loans and advances
Decrease (Increase) in bills purchased under resale agreement
Decrease in subordinated loan
Decrease (Increase) in other assets(*)
Increase in deposits from customers
Increase (Decrease) in deposits and placements
by banks and other financial institutions
Decrease in other liabilities(*)
Interest received
Dividend received
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

| INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Note

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

Cash flows from financing activities:
(64,960,388)
964,881,151
(1,057,724,614)
196,326,273

529,125,941
(851,763,044)
9,978,539
(234,711,793)
(24,895,300)
-

38,522,422

(572,265,657)

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

178,447,287

(185,753,231)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

705,535,226

891,288,457

883,982,513

705,535,226

Repayments of bills sold under repurchase agreements
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Proceeds from debt securities issued
Repayments of debt securities issued
Repayment of subordinated debt issued
Issuance of new shares

17
18
18
19
19
21

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

32

(*) Represents fluctuation of other assets and other liabilities other than changes in accrued interest receivables
and accrued interest payables, respectively.

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

1

2

Organisation and business

Basis of preparation

Trade and Development Bank of Mongolia LLC

Statement of compliance

Trade and Development Bank of Mongolia LLC (the “Bank”) is a Mongolian domiciled limited liability
company, incorporated in accordance with the Company Law of Mongolia. The Bank was given special
permission to conduct banking activities by Decree No.3/149 issued by the President of the Bank of Mongolia
(“BOM”) on 29 May 1993 in accordance with the Banking Law of Mongolia, and License No.8 was renewed
by BOM on 27 February 2002.

The accompanying financial statements are financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as modified by the BOM guidelines.

Pursuant to the aforementioned resolutions, license and charter, the Bank conducts banking activities such
as cash savings, lending, handling and settlements of cash transfers, foreign currency transactions and other
banking activities through its 23 branches and 28 settlement centers.

The major items modified by the BOM guidelines that are not in compliance with IFRS include the following,
and the details are included in the corresponding notes:




The direct parent company of the Bank is Globull Investment and Development SCA (“Globull”), which owns
a 66.82% interest in the Bank and is incorporated in Luxembourg. Globull is wholly owned by US Global
Investment LLC (“US Global”), which is incorporated in the United States of America.
The Bank’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as of 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Parent

The
Bank

Name

2018
Classification

Ownership (%)
2018

2017

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:



Available-for-sale

10.0

100.0

Mongolia

31 December

NNC LLC(*2)

Available-for-sale

9.9

36.9

Mongolia

31 December

Finance
Media

MGL Leasing(*2)

Available-for-sale

10.0

55.0

Mongolia

31 December

Finance

MIK Holding JSC(*2) Available-for-sale

9.9

21.9

Mongolia

31 December

Mortgage

(*1) The Bank sold 90% of TDB Capital LLC (TDBC) shares in order to comply with the Banking Law of
Mongolia modification which strictly forbids all banks to hold any non-banking company as their subsidiary
or associate. The Bank recognised approximately 10.8 billion loss on disposal of TDBC shares.





Derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets that are measured at fair value
Certain property and equipment that are measured at fair value subsequent to acquisition
Investment property that is measured at fair value
Precious metal that is measured at fair value

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Mongolian Togrog (“MNT”), rounded to the nearest thousand.
MNT is the Bank’s functional currency.
Use of estimates and judgments

(*2) Due to loss of control over TDBC, the Bank lost its significant influence over MIK holdings JSC, MG
Leasing and NNC LLC, respectively. The Bank reclassified the remaining shares to available-for-sale
investment securities, respectively.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

As at 31 December 2018, the Bank does not hold any investments in subsidiaries or associates. However,
in accordance with IAS 28, transactions until the disposal of these investment were recognised under equity
method in the financial statements. The financial statements of comparative period are consolidated financial
statements.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Accordingly, “the Group”, previously referred to the controlling company and its subsidiaries, is replaced with
“the Bank” in the financial statements.
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The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2019.

Location Reporting date Industry

TDB Capital LLC(*1)

Allowance for loan loss reserves, receivables, letters of credit, unused credit commitments,
unfunded syndicated, foreclosed properties and repossessed assets, at cost
Accounting for deferred tax
Postpone the effective date of IFRS 9 adoption

Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments of the Bank in applying accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are allowance
for loan losses, valuation of financial instruments, and valuation of property and equipment and investment
property.
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31 December 2018 and 2017

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

3

3

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied by the Bank and are consistent with
those used in previous years.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combination
(i) Business combination

Basis of consolidation
(i)

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Bank. The Bank controls an investee when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

(ii) Loss of control
When the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.
(iii) Intra-group transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the financial statements. Intra-group losses are recognised as
expense if intra-group losses indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the financial
statements.
(iv) Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are accounted for separately from the parent’s ownership
interests in a subsidiary. Each component of net profit or loss and other comprehensive income is
attributed to the owners of the parent and non-controlling interests holders, even when the allocation
reduces the non-controlling interests balance below zero.

Each identifiable asset and liability is measured at its acquisition-date fair value.
As at the acquisition date, non-controlling interests in the acquiree are measured as the non-controlling
interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities
incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the acquirer.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then
it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
(ii) Goodwill
The Bank measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
- the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
- if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in
the acquiree; less
- the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.
When the excess is negative, bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
When the Bank additionally acquires non-controlling interest, the Bank does not recognise goodwill
since the transaction is regarded as equity transaction.
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

3

3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Associates are entities in which the Bank has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Bank holds between 20% and 50%
of the voting power of another entity.

(i)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.
The investment in an associate and a joint venture is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the Bank share of the profit or loss and changes in equity of the
associate and the joint venture after the date of acquisition. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
financial statements. Intra-group losses are recognised as expense if intra-group losses indicate an
impairment that requires recognition in the financial statements.
If an associate or a joint venture uses accounting policies different from those of the Bank for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements in applying
the equity method.
When the Bank‘s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount
of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Bank has an obligation or has to make payments on behalf of
the investee for further losses.
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Bank entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.
However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of available-for-sale equity investment
(except on impairment, in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognised in OCI are
reclassified to profit or loss), are recognised in OCI.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment in associates and joint ventures

Classification
Financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading include debt securities, equity securities and
securities acquired and held by the Bank for short-term trading purposes. Changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss.
Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss include certain derivative contracts that are not
designated as effective hedging instruments. All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (positive
fair value), as well as options purchased, are reported as trading assets. All trading derivatives in a net
payable position (negative fair value), as well as options written, are reported as trading liabilities.
Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include those financial assets and
financial liabilities designated at initial recognition because 1) such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch; 2) respective financial assets and financial liabilities are part of a group
of financial assets, liabilities or both and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance
with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or 3) the embedded derivative does not
meet the separation criteria. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recorded at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded in the current operations.
Originated loans and receivables are loans and receivables created by the Bank providing money to a
debtor other than those created with the intention of short-term trading. Originated loans and receivables
comprise loans and advances to customers and are reported net of an allowances to reflect the estimated
recoverable amounts. The allowance is estimated in accordance with the Regulations on Asset
Classification and Provisioning, jointly approved by the President of BOM and the Ministry of
Finance.(BOM Provisioning Guidelines)
Held-to-maturity assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity
that the Bank has the intent and ability to hold to maturity, and are not designated at fair value through
profit or loss or as available-for-sale. This includes certain investment securities held by the Bank.
Available-for-sale assets are non-derivative assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not
classified as another category of financial assets.

(ii) Initial recognition
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue if the financial assets are not subsequently accounted for at fair
value through profit or loss. For financial assets at FVTPL, directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

3

3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges

(iii) Subsequent measurement

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative
is recognised in other comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated,
or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge, or the hedge designation is
revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. In a discontinued hedge of a forecast
transaction, the cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive income from the year when the
hedge was effective is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the
forecast transaction occurs and affects profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is reclassified immediately to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities held for trading, derivatives recorded
at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value, except that any instrument that does not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured is carried at
cost, including transaction costs, less impairment losses. Gains and losses arising from changes in the
fair value of trading instruments and available-for-sale assets are recognised in profit or loss and directly
in equity, respectively.
All non-trading financial liabilities, originated loans and receivables, and held-to-maturity assets are
measured at amortised cost less impairment losses where applicable. Amortised cost is calculated on
the effective interest rate method. Premiums and discounts, including initial transaction costs, are
included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest
rate of the instrument.

(i)

Financial assets
The Bank derecognises a financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or the Bank has either transferred the contractual right to receive the cash flows from that
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more recipients, subject to certain
criteria, or if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
The Bank enters into transactions in which it transfers previously recognised financial assets but retains
substantially all the associated risks and rewards of those assets. In transactions in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset are neither retained nor transferred, the Bank
derecognises the transferred asset if control over that asset (i.e. the practical ability to sell the transferred
asset) is relinquished. The rights and obligations retained in the transfer are recognised separately as
assets and liabilities, as appropriate. If control over the asset is retained, the Bank continues to recognise
the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, which is determined by the extent to which it
remains exposed to changes in the value of the financial asset transferred.
The derecognition criteria are also applied to the transfer of part of an asset, rather than the asset as a
whole, or to a group of similar financial assets in their entirety, when applicable. If transferring a part of
an asset, such part must be a specifically identified cash flow, a fully proportionate share of the asset, or
a fully proportionate share of a specifically-identified cash flow.

(ii)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and unrestricted due from banks and other financial
institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of short-term commitments.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial liabilities

Property and equipment
(i)

Recognition and subsequent measurement
The initial cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import
duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. After recognition as an asset, property and
equipment whose fair value can be measured reliably are carried at a revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Expenditure incurred after property and equipment has been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally charged to income in the
year in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from
the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of property and equipment.
The Bank revalues its property and equipment to ensure that the fair value of revalued assets does not
differ materially from its carrying amount. Surpluses arising from revaluation are dealt with in the
revaluation reserve in equity. Any deficit arising is offset against the revaluation reserve to the extent
of a previous increase for the same asset. In all other cases, a decrease in carrying amount is charged
to profit or loss as impairment.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. If an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statements of comprehensive
income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Foreclosed real properties

(ii)

Properties acquired through foreclosure are initially recognised at fair value, recorded as foreclosed properties.
The allowance is subsequently estimated in accordance with the BOM Provisioning Guidelines, jointly
approved by the President of BOM and Ministry of Finance. Such a model classifies the Bank’s foreclosed
properties based on time characteristics and makes allowances at the rates of 0%, 25%, 50%, 75% and
100% for credit classification categories of performing, in arrears, substandard, doubtful and loss,
respectively.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each
item of property and equipment. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:




Buildings
Office equipment and motor vehicles
Computers

40-60 years
10 years
3-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted,
if appropriate. The change is accounted for as changes in accounting estimates.
Construction-in-progress
Construction-in-progress represents the cost of construction of new buildings and premises, which have not
been fully completed or installed. No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress during the period
of construction.

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use are
classified as held for sale. The asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and its sale must be highly probable.
Immediately before the classification of the asset as held for sale, the carrying amount of the asset is remeasured in accordance with applicable IFRS. Thereafter, generally the assets are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
If the non-current asset is classified as asset held for sale, the asset is no longer depreciated.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement
are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss in
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Intangible assets
(i)

Non-current assets held for sale

Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses.

(ii)

Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. The estimated useful lives
of intangible assets are as follows:



Software
Patent

3 years
10 years

Amortisation methods and amortisation periods are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted, if
appropriate. The change is accounted for as changes in accounting estimates.
Investment property
Property held for the purpose of earning rentals or benefiting from capital appreciation is classified as
investment property. Investment property is measured initially at its cost. Transaction costs are included in
the initial measurement. Subsequently, investment property is measured at fair value and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.
Due to the commencement of owner-occupation or of development with a view to sell, the deemed cost of
investment property carried at fair value transferred to owner-occupied property or inventories is the
investment property’s fair value at the date of change in use.
If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property that will be carried at fair value due to the
cease of owner-occupation, the Bank shall revaluate it at the fair value at the date of change in use, and
reclassify it to investment property.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment

Impairment (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Bank's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

(ii)

(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are presented net of allowances for uncollectability. Allowances are made against
the carrying amount of loans and receivables that are identified as being potentially impaired, based on
regular reviews of outstanding balances, to reduce these loans and receivables to their recoverable
amount in accordance with BOM Provisioning Guidelines. Increases in the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a loan is known to be uncollectible, all the necessary legal procedures
have been completed and the final loss has been determined, the loan is written off directly.
In accordance with the BOM Provisioning Guidelines revised on 30 June 2017, the Bank is required to
determine the quality of receivables based on their time factor and qualitative characteristics in
classifying them and determining provisions. Such a model classifies the Bank’s allowances for
receivable losses at the rates of 0.5%, 1% to 5%, 5% to 25%, 15% to 50% and 50% to 100%, based
on credit classification categories of performing, in arrears, substandard, doubtful and loss, respectively.
The Bank does not recognise allowance for the deposit collateralised loans and overnight loans.
Qualitative characteristics taken into consideration for determining credit classification include
completeness of loan file, financial indicators of the borrower, value of the collateral and previous
rescheduling of the loan, etc.
In accordance with the BOM Provisioning Guidelines revised on 30 June 2017, the Bank is required to
determine the quality of off-balance assets and contingent liabilities based on obligor’s qualitative
characteristics in classifying them and determining provisions. BOM Provisioning Guidelines had set
the model of provisioning rate depending on the remaining period to maturity. Such a model classifies
the Bank’s allowances for off-balance assets and contingent liabilities losses at the rates of 0%, 5%,
25%, 50% and 100% in case of remaining period less than 1 year, based on credit classification
categories of performing, in arrears, substandard, doubtful and loss, respectively. While in case of
remaining period more than 1 year, it classifies the Bank’s allowances for off-balance assets and
contingent liabilities losses at the rates of 0%, 1%, 15%, 35% and 75%, based on credit classification
categories of performing, in arrears, substandard, doubtful and loss, respectively.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as
a reclassification adjustment even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. Impairment
losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as available-forsale are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument
classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the
amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. When a decline in the fair value of an available-forsale financial asset has been recognised in other comprehensive income and there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment even though the financial
asset has not been derecognised. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in
an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. In
addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below
its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

(iii) Held-to-maturity financial assets
An impairment loss in respect of held-to-maturity financial assets measured at amortised cost is
calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate and is recognised in profit or loss.
Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
(iv) Assets other than financial instruments
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank
estimates the recoverable amount of the respective asset. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset's or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For
an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised as loss of current operation in the
statements of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. All reversals of impairment are recognised as
profit in the statements of comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue

The Bank enters into purchase (sale) of investments under agreements to resell (repurchase) substantially
identical investments at a certain date in the future at a fixed price. Investments purchased subject to
commitments to resell them at future dates are not recognised on the statements of financial position. The
amounts paid are recognised in loans to either banks or customers. The receivables are shown as
collateralised by the underlying security. Investments sold under repurchase agreements continue to be
recognised in the statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with the accounting policy
for either assets held for trading or available-for-sale as appropriate. The proceeds from the sale of the
investments are reported as liabilities to either banks or customers. The difference between the sale and
repurchase considerations is treated as interest income or expense and is accrued over the period of the
agreement using the effective interest method.

(i)

Interest income
Interest income and expense is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income as it accrues,
taking into account the effective yield of the asset or liability. Interest income and expense include the
amortisation of any discount or premium or other differences between the carrying amount of an
interest bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis
except that the Bank does not amortise loan originating costs and fees on an effective interest rate
basis but rather recognises them in profit or loss as incurred.

(ii)

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is charged to customers for the financial services provided. Fee and
commission income is measured upon the determined transaction price from contract with customers
and recognised when the corresponding service is provided.

Share capital
(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of taxes.
(ii) Treasury shares
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, is net of any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from
equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from
total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is
recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred
to / from retained earnings.

(iii) Rental income
Rental income from leased property is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral
part of the total rental income.
(iv) Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividends is established.
Operating lease payments

(iii) Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests, which represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to a parent’s ownership interests, consist of the amount of those non-controlling interests at the date
of the original combination calculated in accordance with IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ and the noncontrolling interests share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the statements of
comprehensive income as a deduction to the total rental expenses over the term of the lease.
Income tax

Provisions

Income tax expense is comprised of current tax only.

A provision is recognised in the statements of financial position when the Bank has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using the tax
rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Bank that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Bank’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to
the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Repurchase agreements

The Ministry of Finance issued a regulation on deferred tax differences in May 2010. However, the Taxation
Office of Mongolia has not implemented the regulation yet and deferred tax issues have not been
incorporated in the Tax Methodology yet due to unfamiliarity of the deferred tax accounting among
companies, including commercial banks, as well as the tax authorities. Substantial implementation efforts
such as issuance of calculation methodologies, training and discussions with practitioners are required for
smooth adoption. BOM is planning to issue guidelines for commercial banks on the accounting for deferred
tax assets and liabilities and recognises that current accounting practices for deferred taxes by commercial
banks do not comply with IFRS.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The Government of Mongolia continues to reform the business and commercial infrastructure in its transition
to a market economy. As a result the laws and regulations affecting businesses continue to change rapidly.
These changes are sometimes characterized by poor drafting, varying interpretations and inconsistent
application by the tax authorities. In particular, taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of
authorities who are enabled by law to impose fines and penalties. While the Bank believes it has provided
adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation and status at the period-end,
the above facts may create tax risks for the Bank which are not possible to quantify at this stage.

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published
and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, and the Bank has not early adopted
them.
(i)

IFRS 9, published in December 2015, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and
measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on
financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance
on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IFRS 9. IFRS 9 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. However, BOM postponed the effective date of IFRS 9
for Mongolian commercial banks to January 1, 2020.

Employee benefits
The Bank does not provide severance benefits to its employees except for providing the employer’s portion
in accordance with statutory social insurance payments to the State Social Insurance Scheme. Contributions
made by the Bank are recognised as an expense in the statements of comprehensive income as incurred.
New standards and interpretations adopted

The Bank is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from the application of
IFRS 9.

The Bank applied the following new accounting standard from January 1, 2018.
(i)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)
The Bank applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This standard replaced IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Accounting for Construction, SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving
Advertising Services, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real, and IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers.
Standards such as IAS 18 and others provide revenue recognition criteria for different types of
transactions such as sales of goods, rendering of services, interest, royalties, dividends, and
construction contracts. However, the revenue under the new standard IFRS 15 is recognised by
applying the five-step model (① Identifying the contract → ② Identifying performance obligations → ③
Determine the transaction price → ④ Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations → ⑤
Recognize revenue upon satisfaction of performance obligation).
The Bank had analysed the impact from IFRS 15 as at 1 January 2018, and concluded no significant
impact on the financial statements. There were no significant transactions which could have impact on
the financial statements in 2018.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9)

(ii)

IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16)
IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives, SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease.
The Bank shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of a contract and at the
date of initial application. However, as a practical expedient, the Bank is not required to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial application.
For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, lessees and lessors shall account for each lease component
within the contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the contract.
Lessee shall recognize right-of-use assets which represents a lessee’s right to use an underlying asset
and lease liabilities which represents obligation to make payments. However, exceptions may be
applied for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. In addition, as a practical expedient, a
lessee may elect, by class of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components from lease
components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.
The Bank plans to apply to this standard for annual periods beginning on January 2019. The Bank is
currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 as at 31 December 2018.
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Cash and due from banks
2018
MNT’000
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with banks and
other financial institutions
Balances with BOM(*)

2017
MNT’000

77,762,969

62,641,118

279,835,253
937,195,273

218,623,755
792,668,509

1,294,793,495

1,073,933,382

(*) At 31 December 2018, BOM requires that a minimum of 10.5% of average customer deposits for MNT,
and 12% percent of average customer deposits for foreign currency must be maintained for two weeks
with BOM. In December 2017, BOM required that a minimum 12% of average customer deposits for
two weeks must be maintained with BOM. In relation to the daily requirement, the Bank also should
maintain no less than 50% of the required reserve amount at the end of each day. At 31 December 2018
and 2017, the required reserve amount was MNT 410,810,982 thousand and MNT 368,398,156 thousand,
respectively.
5

Investment in associates and joint ventures
2018
MNT’000
Investment in MIK Holding JSC
Investment in MG Leasing LLC
Investment in NNC LLC

2017
MNT’000
-

44,331,909
5,480,743
11,028,612

-

60,841,264

The Bank sold 90% of TDB Capital LLC (TDBC) shares in 2018. As a result of selling TDBC shares, the Bank
lost control over TDBC and reclassified the remaining shares to available-for-sale investment securities.
Accordingly, the Bank lost its significant influence over MIK holdings JSC, MG Leasing and NNC LLC,
respectively. The Bank reclassified the remaining shares to available-for-sale investment securities,
respectively.
Condensed financial statements of associates and join-ventures as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Investment securities
2018
MNT’000

Held-to-maturity investment securities
Government bonds
Development Bank of Mongolia bonds

(*1)

(*2)

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000
Investees

Available-for-sale investment securities
Unquoted equity securities, at cost(*1)
Repossessed assets, at cost(*2)
Equity securities, at fair value
Government bonds
Bank of Mongolia Treasury bills
Residential mortgage-backed securities

3,552,205
75,260,890
51,388,358
25,212,595
443,184,145
102,802,800

443,430
92,257,890
22,898,445
1,870,111
684,543,820

701,400,993

907,190,696

992,740,563
65,000,000

992,667,318
126,428,693

1,057,740,563
1,759,141,556

1,119,096,011
2,026,286,707

MIK Holding JSC
MG Leasing LLC
NNC LLC

105,177,000

2017
MNT’000

Asset

Liability

Asset

Liability

3,186,975,027
179,370,169
40,138,303

2,997,171,098
164,262,242
12,039,301

2,778,947,860
87,739,238
41,893,789

2,612,635,129
77,774,249
13,351,833

2018
MNT’000
Investees
MIK Holding JSC
MG Leasing LLC
NNC LLC

Operating
revenue
235,482,019
12,154,861
6,512,922

Unquoted equity securities represent investments made in unlisted private companies and are
recorded at cost as there is no quoted market price in active markets and their fair value cannot be
reliably measured.
The Bank acquired the shares of the Mongolian National Rare Earth Corp LLC ("MNREC") based on
a separate agreement between the Bank and MNREC’s shareholder where MNREC shares are
transferred to the Bank if MNREC does not repay the loan. The Bank acquired 100% equity interest
in MNREC as at 26 December 2016 and classified as available-for-sale investment securities in
accordance with BOM guidelines. Repossessed assets are recorded at cost in accordance with
BOM guidelines. The Bank recognised impairment loss of MNT 16,997,000 thousand as a result of
AQR in 2018.
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Net
income(loss)
58,933,072
5,142,938
(553,412)

2017
MNT’000
Operating
revenue
216,078,035
7,407,715
6,253,272

Net
income(loss)
65,032,240
2,860,446
(2,460,144)
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Loans and advances

9

Loans and advances to customers
Loans to executives, directors and staff

Allowance for loan losses

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

3,456,658,750
34,739,672

3,002,411,299
30,495,732

3,491,398,422

3,032,907,031

(436,666,656)

(267,932,462)

3,054,731,766

2,764,974,569

Movements in the allowance for loan losses for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

At 1 January
Provision for the year, net(*1)
Written off

267,932,462
228,877,862
(60,143,668)

153,566,637
114,365,825
-

At 31 December

436,666,656

267,932,462

(*1) The AQR result included.
In addition, the Bank transferred its mortgage loans to MIK SPCs with carrying amounts of MNT 109,394,123
thousand and MNT 170,632,476 thousand during 2018 and 2017, respectively. These transactions qualified
for derecognition.
The Bank transferred pool of mortgage loans with carrying amounts of MNT 309,670 thousand to Mongolian
Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC during 2018. However, the loans do not qualify for derecognition criteria for
financial assets since significant risks and rewards were not transferred to Mongolian Mortgage Corporation
HFC LLC. Accordingly, the Bank did not derecognize in the financial statements but accounted for these
transactions as collateralised financing for which the balance at 31 December 2018 amounted to MNT
4,162,660 thousand. (Note 18)
The Bank entered into Troubled Asset Recovery Program ("TARP") agreement with Bank of Mongolia in June
2016. TARP is intended to assist two borrowers in designated economic sectors who do not expect to be
able to fully repay the principal and interest of its loans in the medium term. Under this agreement, BOM
purchased debt securities issued by the Bank and the Bank granted certain loans.

8

Bills purchased under resale agreements
Contract party

Sold date

Maturity

Interest rate

Trans Bank

28 Dec 2017

2 Jan 2018

11.0%

31

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000
-

Property and equipment
Property and equipment as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
31 December 2018
(In MNT’000)

Office
equipment and
motor vehicles

Buildings

Computers Constructionand others in-progress(*1)

Total

At cost/revaluation
At cost
At revaluation

38,457,088
130,014,323

10,716,262
-

26,326,256
-

142,820,691
-

218,320,297
130,014,323

At 1 January 2018

168,471,411

10,716,262

26,326,256

142,820,691

348,334,620

-

10,637,429
(339,715)
(585,907)

8,907,851
(4,830,250)
(985,964)

55,148,467
-

74,693,747
(5,169,965)
(1,571,871)
4,386,864

Additions
Disposals
Write-offs
Revaluation
surplus(*1)
Change in
consolidation scope

4,386,864

-

-

-

-

(33,337)

(50,264)

-

(83,601)

At 31 December 2018

172,858,275

20,394,732

29,367,629

197,969,158

420,589,794

Measured at:
Cost
Revaluation

38,457,088
134,401,187

20,394,732
-

29,367,629
-

197,969,158
-

286,188,607
134,401,187

172,858,275

20,394,732

29,367,629

197,969,158

420,589,794

591,374
3,406,098
(2,521,571)

4,970,701
1,001,208
(339,715)
(545,261)
-

18,633,955
3,761,897
(4,830,250)
(985,331)
-

-

24,196,030
8,169,203
(5,169,965)
(1,530,592)
(2,521,571)

Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 January 2018
Charge for the year
Disposals
Write-offs
Revaluation surplus
Change in
consolidation scope

-

(17,858)

(35,557)

-

(53,415)

At 31 December 2018

1,475,901

5,069,075

16,544,714

-

23,089,690

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2018

171,382,374

15,325,657

12,822,915

197,969,158

397,500,104

(*1) Construction-in-progress account mainly consists of costs for construction of the Bank’s new office
building and branch buildings. The Bank made a contract to build its new corporate head office with
Riverstone Property LLC and paid MNT 136,973,200 thousand and MNT 52,683,800 thousand in June
2016 and December 2018 respectively. During 2018, Riverstone Property LLC had acquired all
permissions of construction from the Ministry of Construction and Urban Development and started the
actual construction. The building will be completed in 2022.

11,981,945
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Property and equipment (continued)
31 December 2017
(In MNT’000)
Office
equipment and
Buildings(*1) motor vehicles

Details of the latest valuation of buildings appraised by an independent professional valuation company were
as follows:
Computers
and others

Constructionin-progress(*2)

48,018,214
126,150,568

13,804,225
841,556

23,829,662
-

142,199,641
-

227,851,742
126,992,124

At 1 January 2017

174,168,782

14,645,781

23,829,662

142,199,641

354,843,866

161,589
(128,825)

274,927
(34,071)
(45,463)

2,922,553
(3,786)
(346,870)

621,050
-

3,980,119
(37,857)
(521,158)

(6,069,773)
419,503
(79,865)

(3,283,356)
(841,556)
-

(75,303)
-

-

(9,428,432)
(422,053)
(79,865)

At 31 December 2017

168,471,411

10,716,262

26,326,256

142,820,691

348,334,620

Measured at:
Cost
Revaluation

41,901,340
126,570,071

10,716,262
-

26,326,256
-

142,820,691
-

221,764,549
126,570,071

168,471,411

10,716,262

26,326,256

142,820,691

348,334,620

1,366,583
3,222,472
-

4,852,103
955,438
(34,071)
(38,986)

15,065,697
3,946,573
(944)
(341,638)

-

21,284,383
8,124,483
(35,015)
(380,624)

(355,921)
(3,444,252)
(197,508)

(763,783)
-

(35,733)
-

-

(1,155,437)
(3,444,252)
(197,508)

At 31 December 2017

591,374

4,970,701

18,633,955

-

24,196,030

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2017

167,880,037

5,745,561

7,692,301

142,820,691

324,138,590

Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
Disposals
Write-offs
Change in
consolidation scope
Revaluation surplus
Revaluation gain

(*1) During 2017, the Bank reviewed the useful life of buildings, whereupon the estimated useful life of
same buildings is increased to 60 years from 40 years. These changes are accounted for as a change
in an accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8. The effect of these changes on actual and
expected depreciation expense is not expected to be significant.
(*2) Construction-in-progress account mainly consists of costs for construction of the Bank’s new office
building and branch buildings. The Bank made a contract to build its new corporate head office with
Riverstone Property LLC and paid MNT 136,973,200 thousand in June 2016. Riverstone Property LLC
is currently in the process of obtaining required permission for construction. The actual construction
work is planned to be commenced in 2018 and to be completed in 2022.

33

80

Date of valuation

Total

At cost/revaluation
At cost
At revaluation

Additions
Disposals
Write-offs
Change in
consolidation scope
Revaluation surplus
Revaluation loss

Property and equipment (continued)

Description of property

Basis of valuation

Buildings
Buildings
Buildings

Market value
Market value
Market value

31 December 2016
31 December 2017
31 December 2018

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of buildings,
as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation
technique
Market price
approach

10

Significant
unobservable inputs
Average selling price for proxy
(unit: MNT’000 per ㎡);
buildings: 6,018 ~ 8,957

Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would increase (decrease) if:
Expected market price for proxy land ownership, buildings
and apartments was higher (lower).

Intangible assets
2018
MNT’000
Cost
At 1 January
Additions
Software
Write-offs
Change in consolidation scope

2017
MNT’000

13,030,544

14,386,501

1,657,600
(2,822,989)

446,628
(5,676)
(1,796,909)

11,865,155

13,030,544

10,443,358
1,457,852
(2,812,464)

9,338,385
1,480,796
(5,676)
(370,147)

At 31 December

9,088,746

10,443,358

Carrying amounts
At 31 December

2,776,409

2,587,186

At 31 December
Amortisation
At 1 January
Amortisation charge for the year(*1)
Write-offs
Change in consolidation scope

(*1) Amortisation is charged for software.
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Investment property

13
2018
MNT’000

At 1 January
Disposals
Change in fair value
At 31 December

Other assets
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

91,951,413
(13,300,560)
1,463,673

88,923,950
3,027,463

80,114,526

91,951,413

The fair value of investment property was appraised by an independent professional valuation company.
The independent appraiser provides the fair value of the Bank’s investment property portfolio every year.
The fair value hierarchy for investment property has been categorised as level 3 based on the inputs used in
the valuation techniques.

Precious metals
Accrued interest receivables
Prepayment
Inventory supplies
Hedging instruments(*1)(*2)(*3)
Domestic exchange settlement receivables
Other receivables, net(*4)

Valuation
technique
Market price
approach

12

Significant
unobservable inputs
Average selling price for proxy
(unit: MNT’000 per ㎡);
Buildings: 5,547 ~ 8,957

54,974
212,328,654
4,006,574
1,084,523
379,263,246
5,558,175
24,842,895

32,149
170,379,528
3,634,799
871,872
314,341,681
14,042,067
12,119,858

627,139,041

515,421,954

(*1) Changes in deferred gains recognised at initial recognition of hedging instruments were as follows:
2018
MNT’000

There was no transfer to or from level 3 of investment property during 2018 and 2017.
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property,
as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would increase (decrease) if:
Expected market price for proxy buildings was higher
(lower).

2017
MNT’000

Beginning balance
Deferral
Amortisation(*)
Ending balance

2017
MNT’000

42,926,708
(18,433,233)

61,359,941
(18,433,233)

24,493,475

42,926,708

(*) Amortisation of deferred gains were recognised as other comprehensive income for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2018, in connection with cash flow hedge, as the effective portion of changes
in fair value of the derivative.
(*2) The Bank applied cash flow hedges amount at USD 500,000 thousand by using derivatives (FX swaps) to
hedge the foreign currency risks arising from its issuance of notes denominated in USD since 15 May
2015.

Foreclosed real properties
2018
MNT’000
Industrial buildings
Apartments and houses
Less: Allowances

2017
MNT’000

11,820,677
1,263,746
(10,361,264)

12,129,207
1,358,786
(10,679,687)

2,723,159

2,808,306

During 2018 and 2017, an allowance of MNT 1,405,822 thousand and MNT 481,869 thousand were written
back upon recovery from foreclosed real properties, respectively, and foreclosed real properties were not
written off against impairment losses.

(*3) Changes in other comprehensive income recognised as effective portion of cash flow hedge for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
2018
MNT’000
Beginning balance
Increase
Reclassification(*)
Ending balance

2017
MNT’000

72,371,681
64,921,565
(107,895,000)

14,905,402
26,266,279
31,200,000

29,398,246

72,371,681

(*) Valuation gain which were reclassified to profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
The recognised amount of the ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instruments is nil.
The Bank expects that the period, when derivative contracts designated as a cash flow hedge are
exposed to cash flow volatility risk as at 31 December 2018, will be up until 29 April 2020.
(*4) Other receivables are presented net of impairment losses amounting to MNT 724,883 thousand and MNT
795,115 thousand as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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14

16

Non-current assets held for sale

Current accounts deposits:
Foreign currency deposits
Local currency deposits
Foreign currency cheques for selling
Deposits from banks

Assets held for sale as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:
2018
MNT’000
Acquisition cost

65,313,807

Accumulated impairment losses

Deposits and placements by banks and other financial institutions
2018
MNT’000

During 2018, the Bank classified 10 buildings of foreclosed real properties into non-current assets held for
sale. The Bank initiated a specific plan that the sale will be completed within a year of the classification of
assets as held for sale. And the Bank expect the sale plan to be highly probable as at 31 December 2018.

(444,181)
64,869,626

17

Beginning balance

-

Impairment losses

444,181

Ending balance

444,181

33,430,063
1,610,332
4,444
146,963,125

34,606,332
11,209,388
12,722
198,079,149

182,007,964

243,907,591

Bills sold under repurchase agreements

Changes in accumulated impairment losses on assets held for sale for the years ended 31 December 2018
were as follows:
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

Contract party

Sold date

Maturity

Interest
rate

Development Bank of Mongolia
Development Bank of Mongolia
Development Bank of Mongolia
Development Bank of Mongolia
Development Bank of Mongolia

8 Feb 2016
8 Feb 2016
25 Feb 2016
3 Mar 2016
23 Mar 2016

21 Sep 2018
6 Oct 2021
23 Nov 2021
29 Nov 2021
14 Dec 2021

7.5%
7.5%
7.5%
7.5%
7.5%

2018
MNT’000
15,000,000
20,000,000
20,000,000
10,000,000

2017
MNT’000
64,960,388
15,000,000
20,000,000
20,000,000
10,000,000

65,000,000 129,960,388
15

Deposits from customers

Current accounts
Savings deposits
Time deposits
Other deposits

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

1,570,821,745
313,527,953
1,582,392,670
56,024,308

1,243,670,776
256,649,910
1,507,655,252
62,257,698

3,522,766,676

3,070,233,636

The Bank entered into repurchase agreement with Bank of Mongolia (“BOM”), the agreement where the
Bank sold DBM investment securities under repurchase agreement at an aggregate amount of MNT
65,000,000 thousand.

Current accounts and other deposits generally bear no interest. However, for depositors maintaining current
account balances above the prescribed limit, interest is provided at rates of approximately 1.62% and 3.68%
(2017: 2.26% and 3.54%) per annum for foreign and local currency accounts, respectively.
Foreign and local currency savings deposits bear interest at a rate of approximately 1.91% and 5.96% (2017:
1.92% and 5.95%), respectively.
Foreign and local currency time deposits bear interest at a rate of approximately 5.80% and 13.79% (2017:
6.23% and 14.63%), respectively.
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Borrowings
2018
MNT’000
4,206,674
341,807
21,110,953
1,151,618
3,238,170
25,183,563
12,950,631
1,672,250
51,180,191
4,947,546
2,989,381
115,001,341
19,597,813
178,241,208
107,099,892
78,286,684
1,594,846
15,857,520
14,018,110
3,481,985
4,162,660
52,665,710
30,269,336
22,630,373
26,304,190
177,255,552
385,977
975,825,981

Kreditanstalt fuer Wiederaufbau
World Bank
Asian Development Bank
International Development Association
Export-Import Bank of Republic of China
Japan International Cooperation Agency
Atlantic Forfaitierungs AG
SME Fund, Ministry of Industry
Commerzbank AG
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
ING Bank
Baoshang Bank
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
Netherlands Development Finance Company
Development Bank of Mongolia
Mortgage Financing Programme by BOM,MOF
TDB Syndicated Facility
Cargill TSF Asia Pte.Ltd
Cargill Financial Services International, INC
China Trade Solutions
Erste Group Bank
Banca Popolare di Sondrio
Banco Popular Espanol
OPEC Fund for International Development
Japan Bank of International Cooperation
Agricultural Bank of China
Mongolian Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC
Chailease International Financial Services
China Development Bank
Bank of Inner Mongolia
Promsvyazbank
Transkapitalbank
International Bank for Economic Co-operation
VTB bank Russia
Crowdcredit Estonia OÜ

39

2017
MNT’000
4,165,879
594,945
15,359,262
1,115,842
3,890,984
27,131,236
16,807,091
3,307,611
55,695,530
2,687,071
70,995,831
4,045,217
261,291,378
163,720,745
28,173,139
58,814,851
127,424,325
1,510,436
1,440,677
27,613,115
16,572,301
60,405,858
20,325,499
5,224,622
4,235,559
48,205,091
1,751,112
12,135,650
15,776,345
8,252,242
1,068,669,444

Borrowings (continued)
Kreditanstalt fuer Wiederaufbau (“KfW”)
(a)

In 1997, the Bank entered into Financing Agreement with KfW through Bank of Mongolia, under which
the Bank can borrow equivalent up to EUR 4,345,981 from KfW via BOM, in EUR and MNT as a
Programme-Executing Agency for mainly providing financing to various small and medium enterprises
customers at preferential interest rates. The outstanding KfW loan amounted to EUR 107,144 (MNT
324,502 thousand) and EUR 408,572 (MNT 1,183,988 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.25% per annum. Principal repayment is on a
semi-annual basis, and the repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans
granted to the various borrowers

(b)

Under the Financing Agreement as described in (a) above, the outstanding MNT loan amounted to MNT
3,882,172 thousand and MNT 2,981,891 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5% per annum and the repayment dates for this loan vary in
accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.

World Bank
(a) In 2006, the Bank entered into the TDB Subsidiary Loan Agreement with World Bank, under which the
Bank can borrow up to USD 4,000,000 from the World Bank via the Ministry of Finance to finance the
Second Private Sector Development Project through the provision of sub-loans. The loan bears interest
at six-month London Inter-Bank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) USD rate plus a margin of 1% per annum. The
repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.
The outstanding World Bank USD loan amounted to USD 36,000 (MNT 87,377 thousand) at 31
December 2017. The loan has been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December
2018.
(b) Under the TDB Subsidiary Loan Agreement as described in (a) above, the Bank can also borrow amounts
in various currencies including in MNT up to Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 6,250,000 from the World
Bank via the Ministry of Finance to finance specific investment projects through the provision of subloans. The outstanding World Bank MNT loan amounted to MNT 12,000 thousand and MNT 156,000
thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at a rate equal to the
average rate for MNT demand deposits published by BOM for the preceding twelve months. The
repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the various
borrowers.
(c) In 2006, the Bank obtained a USD loan in the amount of USD 300,000 from the World Bank under the
World Bank Training Assistance Programme loan via the Ministry of Finance for the purpose of financing
the Bank 's implementation of institutional development programme, including staff training in the areas
of credit analysis and risk assessment and risk-based internal auditing. The outstanding World Bank loan
under this programme amounted to USD 124,789 (MNT 329,807 thousand) and USD 144,849 (MNT
351,568 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate
of 2% per annum. The loan is repayable semi-annually until final repayment due in May 2025.
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Borrowings (continued)
Asian Development Bank (“ADB”)

Borrowings (continued)
Japan International Cooperation Agency (“JICA”)

(a) In 1999, the Bank obtained a USD loan in the amount of USD 134,164 from ADB via BOM to upgrade the
Bank’s accounting information systems. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 58,138 (MNT 153,653
thousand) and USD 62,610 (MNT 151,962 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
loan matures in 2031 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum and is repayable in 30 annual
installments which commenced in 2002.
(b) In 2011, the Bank entered into a Finance Agreement with ADB, under which the Bank can borrow up to
USD 11,000,000 from ADB via the Ministry of Finance to provide loans exclusively to customers who
need to finance the cost of goods, works, and consulting services required to carry out Value Chain
Development (“VCD”) subprojects related to the development of agriculture and rural areas. The sub-loan
matures in June 2018 and bears interest at a fixed rate of up to 12% per annum. The Bank can also
borrow in MNT. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor of loans granted to the
various borrowers. The outstanding MNT loan amounted to MNT 250,000 thousand at 31 December 2017.
The loan has been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.
(c) In 2016, an On-Lending Agreement for additional financing was made between the Bank and Ministry of
Finance ("MOF"). Under this agreement the Bank can borrow up to USD 41,187,500 from ADB via the
Ministry of Finance to finance agricultural and rural development projects. The sub-loan matures in January
2024 and bears interest at a fixed rate of MNT 4.5% and USD 3.5% per annum. The outstanding MNT
loan amounted to MNT 20,957,300 thousand and MNT 14,957,300 thousand at 31 December 2018 and
2017, respectively.
(d) As at 31 December 2018, the Bank breached financial covenant specifying NPL ratio requirement with
ADB. Due to such breach in financial covenant, ADB may temporarily suspend TDB’s right to obtain
additional fund under the program. The Bank considers such breach will not have significant influence on
the financial statement of the Bank.

(a) In 2006, the Bank entered into a Loan Financing Agreement with JICA, under which the Bank can borrow
USD or MNT loans up to the amount equivalent to JPY 2,981,000,000 from JICA via the Ministry of
Finance which was channeled to various borrowers for the purpose of Small and Medium-Scaled
Enterprises ("SME") Development and Environmental Protection. The outstanding USD loan amounted to
USD 23,500 (MNT 62,109 thousand) and USD 53,500 (MNT 129,852 thousand) at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at six-month LIBOR USD rate plus a margin of 1% per
annum. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the
various borrowers.
(b) Under the Loan Financing Agreement as described in (a) above, the outstanding MNT loan amounted to
MNT 935,003 thousand and MNT 1,352,876 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
MNT loan bears interest at a rate equal to the average rate for MNT demand deposits published by BOM
for the preceding twelve months. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of
loans granted to the various borrowers.
(c) In 2011, the Bank entered into another Loan Financing Agreement with JICA, under which the Bank can
borrow USD or MNT loans up to the amount equivalent to JPY 5,000,000,000 from JICA via the Ministry
of Finance which was channeled to various borrowers for the second phase of developing SME
Development and Environmental Protection purposes. The outstanding loans amounted to USD 606,900
(MNT 1,603,988 thousand) and MNT 22,582,463 thousand at 31 December 2018, and USD 873,000
(MNT 2,118,885 thousand) and MNT 23,529,623 thousand at 31 December 2017. The loan bears interest
at a rate equal to the average rate for MNT demand deposits published by BOM for the preceding twelve
months. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the
various borrowers.
Atlantic Forfaitierungs AG (“AF”)

International Development Association ("IDA")
In 1998, the Bank obtained a USD loan in the amount of USD 600,000 from IDA to finance the Twinning
Agreement with Norwegian Banking Resources Ltd. ("NBR"), under which NBR had transferred operational
knowhow and technical skills to the Bank. The outstanding IDA loan amounted to USD 435,737 (MNT
1,151,618 thousand) and USD 459,737 (MNT 1,115,842 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum. Principal repayments commenced in
August 2007 with the final repayment due in January 2037.

In 2009, the Bank entered into a Facility Agreement with AF for the purpose of relending to customers
participating in a plantation support fund. The outstanding borrowings amounted to USD 3,161,289 (MNT
8,355,033 thousand) and EUR 1,517,375 (MNT 4,595,598) at 31 December 2018 and USD 6,924,677 (MNT
16,807,091 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The interest rate of this particular loan varies with each
drawdown which is determined by AF. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor
of loans granted to the various borrowers.

Export-Import Bank of Republic of China ("TEXIM")
In 2004, the Bank entered into a Relending facility with TEXIM under which the Bank could borrow up to
USD 5,000,000 for relending purposes to finance customers who purchase machinery and other
manufactured goods produced in Taiwan. The outstanding borrowings under agreement amounted to USD
1,225,224 (MNT 3,238,170 thousand) and USD 1,603,121 (MNT 3,890,984 thousand) at 31 December 2018
and at 31 December 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at six-month LIBOR USD rate plus a margin
of 1.25% per annum. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor of loans granted to
the various borrowers.
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Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings (continued)

SME Fund, Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Light Industry

ING Bank

(a) In 2009, the Bank entered into a credit facility loan agreement with the Ministry of Food, Agriculture and
Light Industry for the purpose of SME development. The Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Light Industry
budgeted MNT 30,000,000 thousand for this facility which is available to all Mongolian commercial banks
with no specific set amount allocated to individual banks. In 2010 and 2011, the Bank renewed this facility
agreement, and the aggregate budget increased to MNT 60,000,000 thousand and MNT 150,000,000
thousand, respectively. In February 2016, the Bank renewed this facility agreement with the Ministry of
Food, Agriculture and Light Industry for the purpose of supporting SME development and increasing
working place. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.2% per annum with varying repayment dates
depending on the draw date. The outstanding borrowings amounted to MNT 622,735 thousand and MNT
1,071,608 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In 2011, the Bank has obtained a trade finance line with ING for relending purposes or confirmation of letter
of credit. The amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date,
repayment date and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank
and the customer on a case by case basis. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor
of loans granted to the various borrowers. Under this trade finance facility, the Bank has outstanding loan
amounted to USD 1,131,090 (MNT 2,989,381 thousand) at 31 December 2018.

(b) In August 2014, the Bank entered into a loan agreement with the Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Light
Industry for the purpose of SME development within the encouraging export and substituting import
program (888 Project). Projects with amount is less than MNT 2,000,000 thousand were implemented
by SME Fund, Ministry of Industry and financed by Development bank of Mongolia. The outstanding
borrowings amounted to MNT 1,049,516 thousand and MNT 2,236,003 thousand at 31 December 2018
and 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.0% per annum. The repayment dates
for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.
Commerzbank AG

Baoshang Bank
(a) In May 2017, the Bank entered into a refinancing facility agreement with Baoshang Bank, under which
Baoshang Bank loans were extended to other borrowers. The outstanding borrowings under this facility
amounted to USD 6,144,064 (MNT 16,238,271 thousand) and CNY 7,000,000 (MNT 2,700,110 thousand)
at 31 December 2018 and USD 938,694 (MNT 2,278,333 thousand) and CNY 1,100,000 (MNT 408,738
thousand) at 31 December 2017.
(b) In April 2018, the Bank entered into an Inter-Bank Syndicated Loan agreement with Baoshang Bank and
Huishang Bank, under which the Bank can borrow CNY loans up to the amount equivalent to CNY
250,000,000. The outstanding loan under this facility amounted to CNY 249,041,970 (MNT 96,062,959
thousand) at 31 December 2018.
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation ("SMBC")

In 2011, the Bank entered into an Uncommitted Bilateral Trade Finance Facility Master Agreement with
Commerzbank AG for the purpose of relending to customers to finance import and export transactions. The
amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date, repayment date and
certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank and the customer on
a case by case basis. Under this facility agreement, the Bank has outstanding loans of USD 13,980,529 (MNT
36,949,420 thousand) and EUR 4,698,718 (MNT 14,230,771 thousand) at 31 December 2018, and USD
16,241,605 (MNT 39,420,487 thousand) and EUR 5,616,209 (MNT 16,275,043 thousand) at 31 December
2017. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor of loans granted to the various
borrowers.
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
In 2014, the Bank has obtained a trade finance line with ICBC for relending purposes or confirmation of letter
of credit. The amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date,
repayment date and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank
and the customer on a case by case basis. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 1,872,000 (MNT 4,947,546
thousand) at 31 December 2018.

In March 2012, the Bank entered into a Refinancing Letter of Credit Facilities Agreement with SMBC under
which the Bank can borrow up to USD 45,000,000 for further relending to customers. The maturity dates and
interest for the facilities vary in accordance with the tenor of each advance, up to 12 and 18 months. The
outstanding loan amounted to USD 1,716,214 (MNT 4,535,816 thousand) and JPY 629,156,100 (MNT
15,061,997 thousand) at 31 December 2018, and USD 24,747,422 (MNT 60,065,211 thousand) and JPY
507,692,500 (MNT 10,930,620 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The repayment dates for this loan vary in
accordance to the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.
Netherlands Development Finance Company (“FMO”)
In June 2012, the Bank entered into a Senior Term Facility Agreement with FMO under which the Bank can
borrow up to USD 10,000,000 which shall be used for relending purposes for small and medium entities. The
outstanding loan amounted to USD 1,666,667 (MNT 4,045,217 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The loan
has been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.
China Trade Solutions
The Bank entered into a Short-Term Trade Finance Facilities Agreement with China Trade Solutions. The
amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date, repayment date
and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank and the customer
on a case by case basis. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 603,441 (MNT 1,594,846 thousand) and
USD 622,313 (MNT 1,510,436 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Borrowings (continued)

Development Bank of Mongolia (continued)

(a) In July 2014, the Bank entered into a credit facility loan agreement with the Development Bank of
Mongolia for the purpose of supporting raw leather purchase and commodity manufacturing. This credit
facility bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.0% per annum with varying repayment dates depending on the
drawdown date. Within this program, 9 sub borrowers were financed successfully in 2014 and 2015. The
outstanding borrowings under this credit facility amounted to MNT 1,017,282 thousand and MNT
1,969,241 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The repayment dates for this loan vary
in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.

(g) In April 2016, the Bank signed a new credit facility agreement with the Development Bank of Mongolia
for the purpose of financing “Agriculture production stabilizing” program. Development bank of Mongolia
budgeted MNT 25 billion for above facility. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 9.0% per annum with
varying repayment dates depending on the drawdown date. The outstanding borrowings under this credit
facility amounted to MNT 1,127,350 thousand at 31 December 2017. The loan has been fully repaid and
there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.

(b) In July 2014, the Bank entered into a loan agreement with the Development Bank of Mongolia for the
purpose of larger project support within the encouraging export and substituting import program (888
Project). Projects with amount of more than MNT 2,000,000 thousand were implemented and financed
by Development Bank of Mongolia. The outstanding borrowings amounted to MNT 37,754,800 thousand
and MNT 50,505,400 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at
a fixed rate of 5.0% per annum. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of
loans granted to the various borrowers.
(c) In June 2015, the Bank entered into a trilateral credit facility agreement with Development Bank of
Mongolia and SME Fund, Ministry of Industry for the purpose of encouraging export and substituting
import, creating working place. This program was implemented by SME Fund, Ministry of Industry and
financed by Development Bank of Mongolia. This credit facility agreement expires on 5 March 2019 and
bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.0% per annum with varying repayment dates depending on the
drawdown date. The outstanding borrowings amounted to MNT 1,748,148 thousand and MNT 8,174,713
thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(h) In June 2018, the Bank signed a new credit facility agreement with the Development Bank of Mongolia
for the purpose of supporting manufacturers and processors of cashmere. Development Bank of
Mongolia budgeted MNT 150 billion for above facility. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 10.0%
per annum with varying repayment dates depending on the drawdown date. The outstanding borrowings
under this credit facility amounted to MNT 2,000,000 thousand at 31 December 2018.
Mortgage Financing Programme by BOM, MOF
In 2013, the Bank entered into credit facility loan agreement titled “Mortgage financing from Bank of
Mongolia provided to banks” with Bank of Mongolia. The intended purpose is to support the middle class
and support the long-term sustainable economic growth by increasing the savings of the middle class.
Starting from June 2017, Ministry of Finance has also begun financing. The outstanding Bank of Mongolia
loan amounted to MNT 77,638,432 thousand and Ministry of Finance loan amounted to MNT 29,461,460
thousand at 31 December 2018 and MNT 138,273,907 thousand and Ministry of Finance loan amounted to
MNT 25,446,838 thousand at 31 December 2017, respectively. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 2.0%
and 4.0% per annum with varying repayment dates depending on the drawdown date.

(d) In September 2015, the Bank signed a new credit facility agreement with the Development Bank of
Mongolia for the purpose of encouraging export and substituting import within the target of
industrialization supporting. In September 2017, the credit facility agreement was amended USD, where
the Bank can borrow in USD under this credit facility in addition to borrowing in MNT. Development Bank
of Mongolia budgeted MNT 300,000,000 thousand for this facility. This credit facility bears interest at a
fixed rate of 6.0% and USD 8.65% per annum with varying repayment dates depending on the drawdown
date. The outstanding borrowings under this credit facility amounted to MNT 8,797,000 thousand and
USD 727,974 (MNT 1,923,978 thousand) at 31 December 2018, and MNT 10,386,000 thousand and USD
776,528 (MNT 1,884,733 thousand) at 31 December 2017, respectively.

Erste Group Bank

(e) In September and December 2015, the Bank signed new credit facility agreements with the
Development Bank of Mongolia for the purpose of financing ASEM (Asia-Europe Meeting) Villa project
and hotel, building for ASEM. Development Bank of Mongolia budgeted MNT 275,000,000 thousand for
above facilities. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum with varying repayment dates
depending on the drawdown date. The outstanding borrowings under these credit facilities amounted to
MNT 125,000,000 thousand and MNT 176,197,541 at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Agricultural Bank of China

(f) In April 2016, the Bank signed a new credit facility agreement with the Development Bank of Mongolia
for the purpose of financing “Meat” program. Development bank of Mongolia budgeted MNT 25 billion
for above facility. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum with varying repayment dates
depending on the drawdown date. The outstanding borrowings under this credit facility amounted to
MNT 11,046,400 thousand at 31 December 2017. The loan has been fully repaid and there was no
outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.

45

86

Borrowings (continued)

Development Bank of Mongolia

The Bank entered into “Master Forfaiting Agreement” for total amount of EUR 5 million with Erste Group
Bank in February 2015 which enabled us to provide import financing to our customers engaged with 13
countries of East Europe. Under this facility agreement, the Bank has outstanding loans of USD 6,000,000
(MNT 15,857,520 thousand) and EUR 497,150 (MNT 1,440,677 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The interest of this particular loan varies with each drawdown which is determined by Erste
Group Bank. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to the tenor of loans granted to the various
borrowers.

In 2011, the Bank entered into an Import Financing Agreement which enables the Bank to finance its
customers for import goods. In 2018, the Bank extended an Import Financing Agreement with Agricultural
Bank of China. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the
various borrowers. The outstanding loan amounted to CNY 9,027,000 (MNT 3,481,985 thousand) at 31
December 2018.
Japan Bank of International Cooperation (“JBIC”)
In 2013, the Bank entered into On-lending agreement with Ministry of Finance based on the Export Credit
Line Agreement made between Japan Bank of International Cooperation and Mongolian Government in 2013,
for the purpose of financing the equipment, machineries, goods and services produced by Japanese
exporters. The Bank can obtain JPY and USD loans up to the total financing amount of JPY 8,000,000
thousand. The outstanding loan amounted to JPY 585,551,795 (MNT 14,018,110 thousand) and JPY
944,054,778 (MNT 20,325,499 thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The loan matures in
July 2020 and bears base interest at a rate of 3.13%.

46

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017

18

18

Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings (continued)

OPEC Fund for International Development (“OFID”)

Cargill Financial Services International, Inc

In August 2015, the Bank entered into a Trade Finance Term Loan Agreement with the OFID under which
the Bank borrowed USD 25,000,000 which shall be used for supporting local corporates and SMEs for their
foreign trade finance requirements. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 24,887,772 (MNT 60,405,858
thousand) at 31 December 2017. The loan has been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31
December 2018.

In December 2014, May 2015 and November 2015 the Bank entered into a Trade related Loan Agreement
under which the Bank for financing of import of goods for the total amount of USD 25,000,000, USD
8,800,000 and 51,500,000 with tenor of 2 years, respectively. The interest of this particular loan varies with
each drawdown which is determined by Cargill Financial Services International, Inc. The outstanding loan
amounted to USD 52,500,000 (MNT 127,424,325 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The loan has been fully
repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.

TDB Syndicated Facility

Mongolian Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC

In September 2013, the Bank entered into A/B Syndicated Term Facility Agreement with Netherlands
Development Finance Company (“FMO”). The syndicated term facility of USD 82,000,000 comprised of
development tranche (‘A’ loan) of USD 35,000,000 arranged by FMO and joined by International Investment
Bank and of commercial tranche (‘B’ loan) of USD 47,000,000 arranged by ING Bank N.V. and TDB Capital
LLC. The ‘B’ loan participations were received from AKA Ausfuhrkredit, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.,
VTB Moscow, Commerzbank, Atlantic Forfaitierungs, MG Leasing Corporation and Chailease Group. The
proceeds of the Facility will be used to finance general funding requirements of TDB including on-lending to
its customers. The rate of interests on each loan is the percentage rate per annum, which is the aggregate
of the applicable margin and LIBOR. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 11,607,594 (MNT 28,173,139
thousand) at 31 December 2017. The principal was payable in accordance with the facility agreement and
the interest was repayable semi-annually until final repayment executed in September 2018. The loan has
been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.
Banca Popolare Di Sondrio
Since October 2015, Banca Popolare Di Sondrio, Italy has been offering post import financing on Italy and
non-Italy deals. The amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date,
repayment date and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank
and the customer on a case by case basis. The Bank has outstanding loans of USD 6,957,724 (MNT
16,887,301 thousand) and EUR 3,701,275 (MNT 10,725,814 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The loan has
been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.
Banco Popular Espanol
Banco Popular Espanol has been cooperating trade related deals related to Spanish beneficiaries on case by
case basis since September 2015. The amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate,
disbursement date, repayment date and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed
upon by the Bank and the customer on a case by case basis. The Bank has outstanding loans of EUR 10,188
(MNT 29,523 thousand) and USD 6,815,777 (MNT 16,542,778 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The loan has
been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December 2018.
Cargill TSF Asia Pte.Ltd
Since May 2014, the Bank entered into a trade related loan agreement under which the Bank financed import
of goods amounted to USD 29,621,284 (MNT 78,286,684 thousand) and USD 24,232,262 (MNT 58,814,851
thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively. The interest of this particular loan varies with each
drawdown which is determined by Cargill TSF Asia Pte. Ltd. The repayment dates for this loan vary in
accordance with the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers.
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In August 2017 and 2018 the Bank transferred pool of mortgage loans with carrying amounts of MNT
5,370,059 thousand and MNT 309,670 thousand to MIK. The loans were transferred on a recourse basis to
MIK and did not qualify for derecognition criteria for financial assets since significant risks and rewards were
not transferred to Mongolian Mortgage Corporation HFC LLC. Accordingly, the Bank accounted for these
transactions as collateralised financing for which the balance amounted to MNT 4,162,660 thousand and
MNT 5,224,622 thousand at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Chailease International Financial Services
In January 2016, the Bank entered into bilateral loan agreement with Chailease International Financial
Services for the amount of USD 2,500,000. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 1,745,090 (MNT
4,235,559 thousand) at 31 December 2017. The facility has been fully repaid in 4 installments of 5%, 12.5%,
12.5% and 70% during 2018.
China Development Bank
In July 2016, the Bank entered into USD 20,000,00 term facility agreement with China Development bank
which shall be used for supporting local corporates. The loan has a 3 year tenor and the interest of the facility
is repayable semi-annually until final repayment due at the maturity of the facility in January 2020. The
outstanding loan amounted to USD 19,927,092 (MNT 52,665,710 thousand) and USD 19,860,943 (MNT
48,205,091) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Bank of Inner Mongolia
In November 2016, the Bank entered into Trade Finance Facilities Agreement with Bank of Inner Mongolia.
The amount and currency of each drawdown, the applicable interest rate, disbursement date, repayment
date and certain other terms and conditions of each drawdown shall be agreed upon by the Bank and the
customer on a case by case basis. In February 2018, the Bank renewed this Trade Finance Facilities
Agreement with Bank of Inner Mongolia. The outstanding loan amounted to CNY 76,341,971 (MNT
29,447,388 thousand) and USD 311,000 (MNT 821,948 thousand) at 31 December 2018, and CNY 1,786,890
(MNT 663,973 thousand) and USD 447,911 (MNT 1,087,139 thousand) at 31 December 2017.
Promsvyazbank
The Promsvyazbank approved trade finance limit in 2017, for the purpose of supporting export and import
transaction between Russian Federation and Mongolia. In September 2017, the Bank obtained credit in the
amount of USD 5,000,000 with a tenor of 1 year to finance the Mongolian companies, who purchase
petroleum products in Russia. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 5,000,000 (MNT 12,135,650 thousand)
at 31 December 2017. The loan has been fully repaid and there was no outstanding loan at 31 December
2018.
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Borrowings (continued)

Debt securities issued

Transkapitalbank
Debt securities issued, at amortised cost

In 2017, the Bank entered into a Master agreement with Transkapitalbank for the purpose of relending to
customers to finance import and export transactions. The interest rate of this particular loan varies with each
drawdown which is determined by Transkapitalbank. The repayment dates for this loan vary in accordance to
the tenor of loans granted to the various borrowers. The outstanding borrowing under above agreement
amounted to USD 8,562,640 (MNT 22,630,373 thousand) and USD 6,500,000 (MNT 15,776,345 thousand) at
31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

2017
MNT’000

1,461,246,758

1,344,633,676

On 19 May 2015, the Bank issued USD 500,000,000 guaranteed notes (unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by the government of Mongolia) due on 19 May 2020 at a price of 100% under its USD
500,000,000 Global Medium Term Note ("GMTN") Programme which was launched on 28 April 2015. These
bonds bear interest at 9.375% per annum payable semi-annually.
On 28 June 2016, the Bank issued MNT 160,000,000,000 notes due on 28 June 2021 at a price of 100%
under Troubled Asset Refinance Program ("TARP") by Bank of Mongolia.

International Bank for Economic Co-operation
In 2017, the Bank signed a Master financing agreement with the International bank for Economic co-operation
for purposes of financing by the Bank of foreign economic transactions of the Bank’s customers. The loan
bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.5% per annum, and the maturity is December 2018. The outstanding
borrowings amounted to USD 9,952,700 (MNT 26,304,190 thousand) and USD 3,400,000 (MNT 8,252,242
thousand) at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

During 2018 and 2017, the respective debt securities accreted by MNT 11,290,293 thousand and MNT
9,493,265 thousand, respectively, using the effective interest method.
The Bank is also obligated to bear withholding tax in addition to the interest expenses paid to certain investors
on its senior notes in accordance with the relative double tax treaty between Mongolia and related countries,
and these additional cash outflows effectively increase actual interest rates for the notes.

VTB Bank Russia
In 2017, the Bank entered into USD 70 million credit facility agreement insured by EXIAR (REC Group) with
VTB Bank. Growing demand for fuels and oil products, the facility designates to finance imports and
consumption of petroleum products in Mongolia. The outstanding loan amounted to USD 67,068,073 (MNT
177,255,552 thousand) at 31 December 2018.
Crowdcredit Estonia OÜ
In November 2018, the Bank entered into Master Facility Agreement with Crowdcredit Inc. for the purpose
of financing Small and Medium Enterprise loans in Mongolia. The outstanding loan amounted to MNT
385,978 thousand at 31 December 2018. The loan matures in June 2020 and bears base interest at the rate
of 12%.
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2018
MNT’000
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Other liabilities
2018
MNT’000
Accrued interest payables
Delay on clearing settlement
Derivative liabilities for trading
Finance lease payable
Domestic exchange obligation payables
Others

50

2017
MNT’000

101,544,963
19,138,808
1,515,973
1,441,315
6,229,201
18,291,961

92,667,854
16,051,052
6,750
2,591,014
11,197,320
19,453,657

148,162,221

141,967,647
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Share capital and share premium
Numbers of ordinary
shares
2018
2017

Share capital
MNT’000
2018
2017

At 1 January
Issued during the year

3,305,056
344,094

3,305,056
-

50,000,011
5,205,571

50,000,011
19,272,456
- 191,120,702

19,272,456
-

At 31 December

3,649,150

3,305,056

55,205,582

50,000,011 210,393,158

19,272,456

396,982,265

Loans and advances
Investment securities
Deposits and placements with banks and other
financial institutions
Bills purchased under resale agreements
Subordinated loans

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the issued and outstanding shares are 3,649,150 and 3,305,506,
respectively out of 4,000,000 authorised shares. In 2018, the Bank increased its capital with additional
344,094 shares at MNT 570,560 per share. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, all issued shares were fully
paid and have a par value of MNT 15,128.
24

22

Interest income
2018
MNT’000

Share premium
MNT’000
2018
2017

Net change
in fair value of
available-for-sale
financial assets
Beginning balance
Changes in fair value
Net unrealised gain on
valuation of cash
flow hedges
Changes due to disposal
and write-offs

13,721,669
(3,053,015)

72,371,681
-

69,465

Ending balance

10,738,119

Net change
in fair value of
available-for-sale
financial assets
Beginning balance
Changes in fair value
Net unrealised gain on
valuation of cash
flow hedges
Changes due to disposal
and write-offs
Change in
consolidation scope
Ending balance

Deposits
Borrowings
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Debt securities issued
Subordinated debt issued

Total
216,107,673
3,855,420

(42,973,435)

-

(42,973,435)

-

(7,690,863)

(7,621,398)

29,398,246

129,231,895

169,368,260

Total

30,219,254
4,180,431

14,905,402
-

126,992,124
4,419,681

172,116,780
8,600,112

-

57,466,279

-

57,466,279

(20,678,016)

-

-

(20,678,016)

-

-

(1,397,482)

(1,397,482)

13,721,669

72,371,681

130,014,323

216,107,673
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365,018,080
230,974,639

16,518,081
401,278
-

16,618,825
33,343
237,333

664,509,719

612,882,220

2018
MNT’000

130,014,323
6,908,435

2017
MNT’000
Net change
in valuation
of cash flow
Revaluation
hedges
reserves

250,608,095

Interest expense

Accumulated other comprehensive income
2018
MNT’000
Net change
in valuation
Revaluation
of cash flow
hedges
reserves

25

2017
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

246,701,231
75,935,944
8,558,099
145,100,424
-

193,364,035
86,085,993
9,786,092
143,782,741
1,102,970

475,765,337

434,121,831

Net fee and commission income
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

Fee and commission income
Wire transfer
Card service
Loan related service
Others

8,641,031
21,506,676
15,925,893
5,201,891

7,309,924
18,175,047
17,565,787
4,088,163

Total fee and commission income

51,289,491

47,138,921

9,688,829
3,076,633

7,846,858
2,252,107

Total fee and commission expenses

12,765,462

10,098,965

Net fee and commission income

38,524,029

37,039,956

Fee and commission expenses
Card service expense
Others
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Other operating income(expense), net
2018
MNT’000
Foreign exchange gain, net
Precious metal trading gain (loss), net
Gain (Loss) on disposal of securities, net
Loss on disposition of investment in subsidiaries
Gain (Loss) on disposal of investment in associates and
joint ventures
Valuation gain on investment property
Gain on disposal of property and equipment, net
Loss on disposal of investment property
Dividend income
Others

2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

15,786,155
(1,438,691)
(3,154,611)
(10,759,812)

15,437,750
273,581
14,168,548
-

(9,884,133)
1,463,673
54,545
(1,806,391)
44,661
765,183

8,556,355
3,027,463
4,868
49,705
6,455,953

(8,929,419)

47,974,223

Operating expenses

Personnel expense
Depreciation on property and equipment (note 9)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 10)
Advertising and public relations
Rental expenses
Professional fees
Technical assistance and foreign bank remittance fees
Write-off of property and equipment
Insurance
Business travel expenses
Cash handling
Stationary and supplies
Communication
Training expenses
Utilities
Repairs and maintenance
Security
Meals and entertainment
Transportation
IT maintenance
Others(*)

(*)

28

38,816,800
8,169,202
1,457,852
8,268,969
5,043,253
3,225,927
1,900,673
41,279
8,538,285
1,558,855
656,322
1,773,929
1,479,524
216,447
846,167
1,485,390
258,266
1,143,964
488,953
3,271,608
3,137,887

35,705,209
8,124,483
1,480,796
8,504,537
4,635,169
6,762,240
1,545,020
140,534
7,035,315
1,406,406
521,433
1,440,236
1,359,876
99,916
824,774
1,158,944
152,168
762,026
374,389
3,378,004
4,518,606

91,779,552

89,930,081

Others include costs incurred for loan collections, cleaning and other miscellaneous administrative
expenses.

Provision for impairment losses
2018
MNT’000
Provision for impairment losses for loans
Provision for impairment losses
for other assets and foreclosed real properties
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2017
MNT’000
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2017
MNT’000

129,204,862

114,365,825

(115,822)

1,196,206

129,089,040

115,562,031
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Leases
The Bank leases some of its branch offices under various lease agreements. Minimum lease commitments
that the Bank will pay under the non-cancellable operating lease agreements with initial terms of one year or
more at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
2018
MNT’000
Within a year
1 – 5 years

30

2017
MNT’000

3,351,622
2,790,510

4,304,763
5,555,693

6,142,132

9,860,456

Cash and cash equivalents
At 31 December 2018, BOM requires that a minimum of 10.5% of average customer deposits for MNT, and
12% percent of average customer deposits for foreign currency must be maintained for two weeks with
BOM. In December 2017, BOM required that a minimum 12% of average customer deposits for two weeks
must be maintained with BOM. In relation to the daily requirement, the Bank also should maintain no less
than 50% of the required reserve amount at the end of each day. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
required reserve amount was MNT 410,810,982 thousand and MNT 368,398,156 thousand, respectively.

Cash and due from banks (note 4)
Balances with BOM restricted in use
Cash and cash equivalents

Income tax expense
Recognised in the statements of comprehensive income:

Income tax expense – current year

2018
MNT’000
322,324

2017
MNT’000
381,360

Profit before tax
Tax at statutory income tax rate (*1)
Tax effect of non-deductible expense
Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of income taxable on special tax rate (*2)

2017
MNT’000

12,962,054

74,141,306

2,790,513
14,630,756
(17,402,094)
303,149

18,085,327
2,860,828
(20,928,695)
363,900

322,324

381,360

2017
MNT’000

1,294,793,495
(410,810,982)

1,073,933,382
(368,398,156)

883,982,513

705,535,226

Details of significant non-cash activities for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

2018
MNT’000

Reconciliation of effective tax expense:
2018
MNT’000

2018
MNT’000

Valuation loss on available-for-sale financial assets
Revaluation of property and equipment
Valuation gain (loss) on cash flow hedges

(2,984,025)
(782,428)
(42,973,435)

2017
MNT’000
(16,497,110)
4,419,681
57,466,279

(*1) Pursuant to Mongolian Tax Laws, the Bank is required to pay Government Income Tax at the rate of 10%
of the portion of taxable profit up to MNT 3 billion and 25% of the portion of taxable profits in excess of
MNT 3 billion.
(*2) According to Mongolian Tax Laws, the Bank is required to pay the special tax for certain type of taxable
income.
31

Dividends
There were no dividends declared for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect to the Bank's business segments. The primary format, operating
segments, is based on the Bank's management and internal reporting structure.
Operating segments pay to and receive interest from the Treasury on an arm's length basis to reflect the
allocation of capital and funding costs.
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property and equipment
and intangible assets other than goodwill.
Operating segments
The Bank comprises the following main operating segments:
•

Corporate Banking

Includes loans, deposits and other transactions and balances with
corporate customers. The Bank classifies its customer as Corporate
Banking customer, where the loan amount is greater than MNT 3,000,000
thousand, or the borrower’s sales amount is greater than MNT 6,000,000
thousand.

•

Small and Mediumsized Enterprise
(“SME”) Banking

Includes loans, deposits and other transactions and balances with SME
customers. The Bank classifies its customer as SME Banking customer,
where the loan amount is between MNT 350,000 thousand and MNT
3,000,000 thousand, or the borrower’s sales amount is between MNT
1,500,000 thousand to MNT 6,000,000 thousand.

•

Retail Banking

Includes loans, deposits and other transactions and balances with retail
customers and card customers. The Bank classifies its customer as Retail
Banking customer, where the loan amount is less than MNT 350,000
thousand, and the borrower’s sales amount is less than MNT 1,500,000
thousand.

•

Investment and
International Banking

Includes the Bank's trading, corporate finance, borrowing from foreign
financial institutions and bond issuance in the international capital market.

•

Treasury

Undertakes the Bank's funding and centralised risk management activities
through borrowings, issues of debt securities, use of derivatives for risk
management purposes and investing in assets such as short-term
placements and corporate and government debt securities. Operation is
the Bank's funds management activities.

•

Others

Includes Headquarter operations and central shared services operation
that manages the Bank's premises and certain corporate costs.
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Segment reporting (continued)

(In MNT’000)
Corporate
Banking

Segment results
External revenue
Net interest income (expenses)

281,432,184

25,177,924

(125,473,783)

(190,000,361)

197,207,088

401,330

188,744,382

8,757,553

135,237

28,666,783

72,554

247,061

644,841

38,524,029

426,334

-

7,678,057

-

(17,101,568)

67,758

(8,929,419)

(216,375,840)

(3,355,977)

220,615,595

197,654,987

(198,497,580)

(41,185)

-

Total segment revenue (expenses)

74,240,231

21,957,184

131,486,652

7,727,180

(18,144,999)

1,072,744

218,338,992

Operating expenses

(1,315,127)

-

(43,718,520)

(2,033,266)

(2,424,857)

-

-

-

-

(42,287,782)
15,491,654

(91,779,552)

(129,037,050)

925,059

(1,020,450)

-

(2,560)

45,961

(129,089,040)

(56,111,946)

22,882,243

86,747,682

5,693,914

(20,572,416)

(25,677,423)

12,962,054

Net fee and commission income
Other operating income (loss), net
Intersegment revenue (expenses)

Share of profit of associates and joint venture
Reversal of (provision for)
impairment losses
Profit (loss) before tax

SME
Banking

Investment and
International
Banking

As at and for the year ended
31 December 2018

Retail
Banking

Treasury

Others

12,639,730

Net profit for the year

-

Non-controlling interests

Segment liabilities
Depreciation and amortisation
Capital expenditures

15,491,654

(322,324)

Income tax expense

Segment assets

Total

2,476,615,148

196,788,114

730,434,863

-

3,291,641,368

588,310,189

7,283,789,682

24,755,757

493,598

3,570,046,751

2,012,978,953

734,253,783

12,480,758

6,355,009,600

(15,066)

-

(4,106,983)

(8,992)

(11,116)

(5,484,897)

(9,627,054)

33,504

-

11,341,131

9,485

3,910

64,963,317

76,351,347
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Segment reporting (continued)

(In MNT’000)
As at and for the year ended
31 December 2017

Corporate
Banking

SME
Banking

Investment and
International
Banking

Retail
Banking

Treasury

Others

Total

Segment results
External revenue
Net interest income (expenses)

278,262,879

15,552,882

(84,868,718)

(194,359,740)

163,978,029

195,057

178,760,389

Net fee and commission income

12,191,151

178,243

23,546,117

218,814

420,181

485,450

37,039,956

3,741,982

-

7,636,144

22,319

43,395,478

(6,821,700)

47,974,223

(203,285,065)

(3,056,824)

155,244,277

202,315,302

(151,177,554)

(40,136)

-

Total segment revenue (expenses)

90,910,947

12,674,301

101,557,820

8,196,695

56,616,134

(6,181,329)

263,774,568

Operating expenses

(1,095,474)

-

(37,140,649)

(2,382,991)

(2,629,961)

(46,681,006)

(89,930,081)

-

-

-

-

-

15,858,850

15,858,850

(115,375,819)

1,854,266

(1,714,331)

-

287,274

(613,421)

(115,562,031)

(25,560,346)

14,528,567

62,702,840

5,813,704

54,273,447

(37,616,906)

74,141,306

Other operating income (loss), net
Intersegment revenue (expenses)

Share of profit of associates and joint venture
Reversal of (provision for)
impairment losses
Profit (loss) before tax

(381,360)

Income tax expense
Net profit for the year

73,759,946
-

Non-controlling interests
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

2,306,831,075

101,353,005

544,270,813

-

3,341,934,943

6,874,925,316

44,115,297

48,063

2,947,572,185

1,851,389,691

1,153,469,237

2,798,212

5,999,392,685

Depreciation and amortisation

(6,989)

-

(3,556,518)

(6,869)

(10,693)

(6,024,210)

(9,605,279)

Capital expenditures

29,913

-

1,930,982

13,655

5,108

2,447,089

4,426,747
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Significant transactions and balances with related parties (continued)

The following entities are considered as related parties of the Bank:

2018
MNT’000

• UB City Bank and its subsidiary

The Bank’s chairman is a member of the board of directors of
UB City Bank.

• Mongolian National Rare Earth
Corp LLC (“MNREC”)

The Bank owns 100.0% equity interest in MNREC as at 31
December 2018.

• Valiant Art LLC

The Bank’s executive officer’s immediate relative owns Valiant
Art LLC as at 31 December 2018.

• MIK Holding JSC
and its subsidiaries(“MIK”) (*)

(*)

• Mongolian General Leasing LLC
and its subsidiary(“MGLL”) (*)

(*)

• National News Corporation
and its subsidiaries(“NNC”) (*)

(*)

• JCDecaux LLC (*)

(*)

2017
MNT’000

MIK (*1):
For the year ended 31 December
Interest income
Interest expense
Fee and commission income

10,051,920
(3,784,676)
2,946,485

10,676,275
(6,124,278)
2,447,216

102,802,800

105,177,000

11,198,053
1,275,713
4,162,660
1,193,165

72,113,000
1,356,440
2,754,264
5,224,622
1,028,399

244,226
(375,471)

300,000
63,707
(281,871)

17,683,821
17,566,241
44,696
8,586
1,424,871

10,271,553
615,773
4,466
82,500
11,293
2,591,014

For the year ended 31 December
Interest expense

(2,937)

(1,985)

As at 31 December
Deposits placement by a bank
Receivable

24,193
-

84,641
432,000

As at 31 December
Investment securities (note 5)
Deposits and placements by banks
and other financial institutions
Loans and advances
Accrued interest income
Accrued interest expense
Borrowings
Receivable
MGLL:

The Bank’s executive officers and their immediate relatives are also considered as the Bank’s related parties.
(*) MIK, MGLL, NNC, and JCDecaux LLC were excluded from the related parties of the Bank upon disposal
of TDB Capital LLC. Below are the list of transactions and balances recognised by the Bank prior to such
disposal.
Significant transactions and balances with related parties as at and for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 were as follows:
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

UB City Bank and its subsidiary (*1):
For the year ended 31 December
Interest income
Interest expense
Net fee and commission income

1,433,619
(1,360,972)
-

As at 31 December
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Deposits and placements by banks
and other financial institutions
Loans and advances
Accrued interest income
Accrued interest expense

60

5,139,394
(758,866)
(188)

142

70,660,743

31,208,078
99
33,204

26,452,916
21,028
35,607
20,348

For the year ended 31 December
Net fee and commission income
Interest income
Interest expense
As at 31 December
Deposit placements by banks and other financial
institutions
Loans and advances
Accrued interest income
Receivables
Accrued interest expense
Lease payables
NNC:

61

95

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT | NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017
34

Significant transactions and balances with related parties (continued)
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

JCDecaux LLC:
For the year ended 31 December
Operating expenses

-

(163,768)

562,833

249,774

25,343

310,442

1,857,352
2,245

1,966,763
2,150

748,713

626,577

8,553,338
49,889

7,039,486
28,063

MNREC:
As at 31 December
Receivable
Valiant Art LLC:
For the year ended 31 December
Interest income
As at 31 December
Loans and advances
Accrued interest income
Executive officers:
For the year ended 31 December
Interest income
As at 31 December
Loans and advances
Accrued interest income
(*1) Other transactions
2018
MNT’000

2017
MNT’000

UB City Bank and its subsidiary:
Disposal of investment security

-

12,961,642

MIK:
Disposal of investment security

-

11,428,685

The loans to executive officers are included in loans and advances of the Bank. Interest rates charged on
mortgage loans and other loans extended to executive officers are less than the rates to be charged in an
arm’s length transaction. The mortgages granted are secured by the properties of the respective borrowers.
Total remuneration and employees benefit paid to the executive officers and directors for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 amounted to MNT 8,632,459 thousand and MNT 7,844,245 thousand, respectively.
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35 Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were summarised as follows:
(In MNT’000)
As at 31 December 2018
Held-tomaturity
investments

Trading
Financial assets
Cash and due from banks
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Bills purchased under resale agreements
Derivative assets
Other assets(*1)

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by
banks and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Derivative liabilities
Other liabilities(*2)

Financial
liabilities
measured
at amortised
cost

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets

Loans and
receivables

- 1,294,793,495
- 1,057,740,563
- 3,054,731,766
242,729,724
- 1,057,740,563 4,592,254,985

701,400,993
-

Derivative held
for hedging

Total

701,400,993

------

379,263,246
379,263,246

379,263,246
242,729,724
6,730,659,787

-

-

1,294,793,495
1,759,141,556
3,054,731,766
-

-

-

-

-

3,522,766,676

-

3,522,766,676

-

-

-

-

182,007,964

-

182,007,964

1,515,973
1,515,973

-

-

-

65,000,000
975,825,981
1,461,246,758
146,285,787
6,353,133,166

-

65,000,000
975,825,981
1,461,246,758
1,515,973
146,285,787
6,354,649,139

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal, inventory supplies, derivative assets and spot receivables were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income, derivative liabilities and spot payables were excluded.

63

97

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT | NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT BANK OF MONGOLIA LLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2018 and 2017
35 Categories of financial instruments (continued)
(In MNT’000)
As at 31 December 2017

Held-tomaturity
investments

Trading
Financial assets
Cash and due from banks
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Bills purchased under resale
agreements
Derivative assets
Other assets(*1)
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by
banks and other financial
institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Derivative liabilities
Other liabilities(*2)

Financial
liabilities
measured
at amortised
cost

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets

Loans and
receivables

Total

-

1,119,096,011
-

1,073,933,382
2,764,974,569

907,190,696
-

-

-

1,073,933,382
2,026,286,707
2,764,974,569

-

1,119,096,011

11,981,945
196,541,453
4,047,431,349

907,190,696

-

314,341,681
314,341,681

11,981,945
314,341,681
196,541,453
6,388,059,737

-

-

-

-

3,070,233,636

-

3,070,233,636

-

-

-

-

243,907,591

-

243,907,591

6,750
6,750

-

-

-

129,960,388
1,068,669,444
1,344,633,676
141,953,944
5,999,358,679

-

129,960,388
1,068,669,444
1,344,633,676
6,750
141,953,944
5,999,365,429

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal, inventory supplies, derivative assets and spot receivables were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income, derivative liabilities and spot payables were excluded.
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35 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

36

Net gains (losses) by financial instruments categories for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were
as follows:

Financial risk management
(a) Overview
The Bank has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

(In MNT’000)




For the year ended 31 December 2018



Other
Fee and

Other

Provision for

Net

compre-

Interest

Interest

commission

operating

impairment

gains

hensive

income

expenses

income

income

loss

(losses)

income

Held-to-maturity
investments
167,424,587
Loans and receivables
413,901,624
- 15,925,893
Available-for-sale
financial assets
83,183,508
Derivatives and spot trading
Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost
- (475,765,337)
664,509,719 (475,765,337) 15,925,893

- (129,132,654)
(3,154,611)
15,785,496

-

167,424,587
300,694,863

This note provides information about the Bank's exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank's
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank's management of
capital.
-

80,028,897 (2,984,025)
15,785,496 (42,973,435)

- (475,765,337)
12,630,885 (129,132,654)
88,168,506 (45,957,460)

For the year ended 31 December 2017
Other
Fee and

Other

Provision for

Net

compre-

Interest

Interest

commission

operating

impairment

gains

hensive

income

expenses

income

income

(losses)

income

Held-to-maturity
investments
183,851,050
Loans and receivables
381,907,581
Available-for-sale
financial assets
47,123,589
Derivatives and spot trading
Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost
- (434,121,831)
612,882,220 (434,121,831)

17,587,535
17,587,535

65

loss

- (114,717,809)

183,851,050
284,777,307

-

61,292,137
15,437,750

(16,497,110)
57,466,279

- (434,121,831)
29,606,298 (114,717,809)
111,236,413

40,969,169

14,168,548
15,437,750

-

Credit risks
Liquidity risks
Market risks

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk
management framework. The Board has established the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) and
Credit Committee, which are responsible for developing and monitoring the Bank’s risk management
policies in their specified areas.
The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and
services offered. The Bank, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles
and obligations.
The Bank’s Representative Governing Board (“RGB”) is responsible for monitoring compliance with the
Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The RGB is assisted in these functions
by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the RGB.
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36

Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances and
investment securities.
Management of credit risk
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to its Credit
Committee. Each branch is required to implement the Bank’s credit policies and procedures, with credit
approval authorities delegated from the Bank’s Credit Committee. Each branch is responsible for the
quality and performance of its credit portfolio and for monitoring and controlling all credit risks in its
portfolios, including those subject to central approval.

Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which objective evidence demonstrates that a
loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the assets and that the loss event has an impact
on the future cash flows of the assets that can be estimated reliably.
Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (after allowances for loan losses) amounts of delinquent
or individually impaired assets by classifications.
2018
MNT’000

Regular audits of branches and credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.

Gross

An analysis of the net amounts of loans and investment securities with respective allowances at the
reporting date was shown below. Classification of related loans to Troubled Asset Recovery
Program(“TARP”) and BOM waiver applied specific asset classification and provisioning ratio.(note 7)
(In MNT’000)

Loans and advances
2018
2017

Investment securities
2018
2017

Carrying amount

3,054,731,766

2,764,974,569

1,628,940,103

1,910,686,942

Performing
In arrears(*)
Non-performing loans:
a) Substandard
b) Doubtful
c) Loss

2,313,565,857
652,856,982

2,477,772,798
330,117,241

1,628,940,103
-

1,910,686,942
-

112,938,733
283,636,783
128,400,067

46,097,859
55,778,226
123,140,907

-

-

Gross amount
Allowance

3,491,398,422
(436,666,656)

3,032,907,031
(267,932,462)

1,628,940,103
-

1,910,686,942
-

Net carrying amount

3,054,731,766

2,764,974,569

1,628,940,103

1,910,686,942

318,584,981

471,676,191

-

-

189,906,239

166,400,776

-

-

45,172,472

70,325,791

-

-

553,663,692

708,402,758

-

-

Letters of credit and guarantees
Loan and credit card
commitments
Unfunded Syndicated risk
participation

In arrears
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss(*2)

Net

2017
MNT’000
Fair value of
collateral(*1)

100

Net

Fair value of
collateral(*1)

652,856,982
112,938,733

567,267,282
74,650,953

558,357,353
74,442,949

330,117,241
46,097,859

283,636,783

115,609,021

115,555,906

55,778,226

16,246,030

16,152,788

128,400,067

(69,930)

-

123,140,907

(1,040,231)

-

1,177,832,565

757,457,326

748,356,208

555,134,233

252,004,180 242,316,653
32,182,273 32,086,793

299,392,252 290,556,234

(*1) The fair value of collateral represents the mitigation of credit risk due to collateral by each item. The
fair value of collateral does not include mitigation of credit risk by other types of credit enhancement
such as floating charge, guarantee from the third party and other tangible assets.
(*2) The provision of unused credit commitments included.
The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over
property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Collateral generally is not held over
loans and advances to banks except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities
borrowing activities. Collateral usually is not held against investment securities, and no such collateral
was held at 31 December 2018 or 2017.
The ultimate collectability of the loans is subject to a number of factors, including the successful
performance of the debtors under various restructuring plans in place or in process of negotiation and
their ability to perform on loan and debt obligations given the status of the Mongolian economy and the
potential continuation of adverse trends or other unfavorable developments. Consequently, it is
reasonably possible that adjustments could be made to the reserves for impaired loans and to the carrying
amount of investments in the near term in amounts that may be material to the Bank’s financial
statements.

(*) Loans included in this classification are those for which contractual interest or principal payments
are past due, but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate based on the level of
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.
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Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

The Bank monitors concentration of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentration of credit risk at
the reporting date was shown below:
2018
MNT’000
Agriculture
Mining and quarrying
Manufacturing
Petrol import and trade
Trading
Construction
Electricity and thermal energy
Hotel, restaurant and tourism
Financial services(*)
Transportation
Health
Education
Mortgage
Payment card
Saving collateralised
Others
Total

2017
MNT’000

18,613,014
218,956,032
364,296,240
120,010,895
754,663,449
450,143,423
21,131,604
89,050,885
234,335,271
59,246,456
32,670,050
28,073,396
261,073,098
193,208,906
45,998,559
163,260,488

16,092,838
255,823,865
340,965,750
80,263,373
602,055,280
389,100,404
1,387,672
189,522,217
303,438,332
41,955,252
16,165,173
4,344,363
247,491,200
112,245,734
39,676,520
124,446,596

3,054,731,766

2,764,974,569

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities. The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation.
The Bank is exposed to frequent calls on its available cash resources from current deposits, maturing
deposits and loan drawdowns. The Bank’s ALCO sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing
funds available to cover such cash outflows and on the minimum level of interbank and other borrowing
facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.
Exposure to liquidity risk
The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid assets to total liabilities,
which is in line with the liquidity ratio described in Banking Law of Mongolia.
For this purpose the Bank maintains a liquidity ratio; calculated as a ratio of a the Bank’s liquid assets,
including cash on hand, deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions, balances
with BOM and investment securities to the Bank’s liquid liabilities; including deposit from customers,
deposits and placements from the Banks and other financial institutions, loans from foreign financial
institutions, taxation and debt securities issued.
Details of the reported ratio at the reporting date were as follows:

As at 31 December

2018

2017

42%

46%

(*) The Bank classified the holding company that only owns shares of companies in other industries as
financial services in accordance with the Bank’s sector codification.

As stipulated in the Banking Law of Mongolia, the total value of loans, loan equivalent assets and
guarantees provided to one person or group of related persons shall not exceed 20% of the total equity
of the Bank. The maximum value of loans, loan equivalent assets and guarantees provided to a
shareholder, the chairman, a member of the Representative Governing Board, an executive director or a
Group officer or any related person thereof shall not exceed 5% of the capital of the Bank, and the total
amount shall not exceed 20% of the capital of the Bank respectively. The criteria for concentration of
loan as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

Description
The loan and guarantee given to one borrower
The loan and guarantee given to the single related party
Total loans and guarantees given to the related parties

69

Suitable ratios

31 December
2018

Violation

<Eq 20%
<Eq 5%
<Eq 20%

17.88%
2.69%
5.38%

None
None
None
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Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining periods to repayment:

Less than
three months

Three to six
months

Six months
to one year

One to five
years

Over five
years

Total

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with
banks and other financial
institutions

77,762,969

-

-

-

-

77,762,969

259,172,568

209,966

8,368,270

4,330,226

7,754,223

279,835,253

Balances with BOM

937,195,273

-

-

-

-

937,195,273

Investment securities

489,307,190

-

46,984,249 1,010,756,314

212,093,803

1,759,141,556

Loans and advances

222,620,333

181,157,282

507,931,994 1,724,655,888

418,366,269

3,054,731,766

Other assets(*1)

204,521,827

405

414,395,388

1,193,466

621,992,971

2,190,580,160

181,367,653

565,166,398 3,154,137,816

639,407,761

6,730,659,788

1,881,885

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by
banks and other financial
institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)
Issued financial guarantee
contracts
Unrecognised loan
commitments
Unfunded Syndicated risk
participation

(In MNT’000)
As at 31 December 2017

(In MNT’000)
As at 31 December 2018

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

2,449,906,662

371,705,704

582,080,988

105,760,828

13,312,494

3,522,766,676

36,454,532

13,214,600

14,728,892

117,609,940

-

182,007,964

-

-

-

65,000,000

-

65,000,000

132,393,355

38,247,329

216,183,931

581,172,064

7,829,302

975,825,981

-

-

- 1,461,246,758

-

1,461,246,758

67,937,715

20,311,910

27,752,646

30,377,939

1,421,550

147,800,760

318,584,981

-

-

-

-

318,584,981

189,906,239

-

-

-

-

189,906,239

-

-

-

45,172,472

840,746,457 2,361,167,529

22,563,346

6,908,312,831

616,844,415

(177,653,043)

45,172,472

-

3,240,355,956

443,479,543

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with
banks and other financial
institutions
Balances with BOM
Bills purchased under resale
agreements
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other assets(*1)

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by
banks and other financial
Institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Subordinated debt issued
Other liabilities(*2)
Issued financial guarantee
contracts
Unrecognised loan
commitments
Unfunded Syndicated risk
participation

Net financial assets/(liabilities)

Less than
three months

Three to six
months

Six months
to one year

792,970,287
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Total

-

-

-

-

62,641,118

218,623,755
792,668,509

-

-

-

-

218,623,755
792,668,509

11,981,945
684,543,820
252,267,353
152,896,045
2,175,622,545

1,863,585
266,652,507
70,626
268,586,718

64,731,736
822,689,169
425,932,380 1,448,374,385
2,442,016
345,377,776
493,106,132 2,616,441,330

452,458,397
371,747,944
10,096,671
834,303,012

11,981,945
2,026,286,707
2,764,974,569
510,883,134
6,388,059,737

891,225,663

599,280,346

665,078,478

912,015,449

2,633,700

3,070,233,636

52,048,414

30,584,572

137,257,221

24,017,384

-

243,907,591

142,351,013
75,868,662

95,361,575
16,902,622

64,960,388
65,000,000
378,200,684
280,595,934
- 1,344,633,676
28,155,663
20,691,917

172,160,237
341,830

129,960,388
1,068,669,443
1,344,633,676
141,960,694

471,676,191

-

-

-

-

471,676,191

166,400,776

-

-

-

-

166,400,776

70,325,791

-

-

-

-

1,869,896,510

742,129,115

1,273,652,434 2,646,954,360

175,135,767

6,707,768,186

(780,546,302)

659,167,245

(319,708,449)

305,726,035 (473,542,397)

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.
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Over five
years

62,641,118

Net financial assets/(liabilities)
(1,049,775,796) (262,111,890) (275,580,059)

One to five
years

72

(30,513,030)

70,325,791
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Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates
will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return on risk.
Asset Quality Review (AQR)
On 24 May 2017, the Executive Board of International Monetary Fund (IMF) approved a three-year
extended arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility for Mongolia to support the country’s economic
reform program. The total financing package amounts to approximately $5.5 billion, including support
from the Asian Development Bank, the World Bank, Japan, Korea and China. One of the pillars of the
program is comprehensive effort to rehabilitate the banking system and strengthen the Bank of Mongolia.
As part of the program, the Bank of Mongolia commissioned Diagnostic Studies on Commercial Banks in
Mongolia including an Asset Quality Review (AQR). The AQR was performed predominantly based on
version 2 of the European Central Bank’s AQR Manual, as localized by the Bank of Mongolia on several
areas.
In May 2018, Bank of Mongolia informed banks that it had updated their assessment made in January
2018 to reflect the projected capital need at the end of 2018, based on the non-performing loans found
by the AQR and stress test result based on banks’ business plans. This changed the amount of new
capital need that the banking system had to raise by the end of 2018 to 3.1 percent of GDP. In September
2018, commercial banks booked all additional provisions called for by the AQR, adjusted only by loans
that were repaid as IMF stated on the 5th review report of Extended Fund Facility program.
As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Trade and Development Bank has made all
provisions required by the AQR result and raised sufficient fresh capital to address the shortfall mentioned
above in line with the capital-raising deadline.
Management of market risks
The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its
financial position and cash flows. Interest rate risk is measured by the extent to which changes in market
interest rates impact margins and net income. To the extent the term structure of interest bearing assets
differs from that of liabilities, net of interest income will increase or decrease as a result of movements
in interest rates.
Interest rate risk is managed by increasing or decreasing positions within limits specified by the Bank’s
management. These limits restrict the potential effect of movements in interest rates on interest margin
and on the value of interest sensitive assets and liabilities.
Overall authority for market risk is vested with the ALCO.
Exposure to interest rate risks
The principal risk to which the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities are exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market
interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having
pre-approved limits for repricing bands. A summary of the Bank’s interest rate gap position on its financial
assets and liabilities are as follows:
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36 Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)
As at 31 December 2018
(In MNT’000)

Average
interest rate
Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Balances with BOM
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Other assets(*1)

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Borrowing
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)
Net financial assets/(liabilities)

2.19%
12.63%
15.20%
-

Total

Non-interest
sensitive

Three to six
months

Six months
to one year

77,762,969

77,762,969

-

-

279,835,253
937,195,273
1,759,141,556
3,054,731,766
621,992,971

216,336,102
937,195,273
147,198,453
621,992,971

42,836,466
468,396,740
222,620,333
-

6,730,659,788 2,000,485,768

209,966
181,157,282
-

8,368,270
4,330,226
46,984,249 1,010,756,314
507,931,994 1,724,655,888
-

7,754,223
85,805,800
418,366,269
-

733,853,539

181,367,248

563,284,513 2,739,742,428

511,926,292

- 2,449,906,662

371,705,704

582,080,988

2,725,839
132,393,355
-

13,214,600
38,247,328
-

4.21%

182,007,964
65,000,000
975,825,981
1,461,246,758
147,801,760

33,728,693
147,801,760

6,354,649,139

181,530,453 2,585,025,856

423,167,632

376,010,649 1,818,955,315 (1,851,172,317)

(241,800,384)

6.01%

9.34%
-

74

-

Over five
years
-

3,522,766,676

7.50%

One to five
years
-

6.52%

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.
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Less than
three months

105,760,828

13,312,494

14,728,892
117,609,940
65,000,000
216,183,931
581,172,065
- 1,461,246,758
-

7,829,302
-

812,993,811 2,330,789,591
(249,709,298)

408,952,837

21,141,796
490,784,496
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36 Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)
As at 31 December 2017
(In MNT’000)

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Balances with BOM
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Bills purchased under resale agreements
Other assets(*1)
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase agreements
Borrowing
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)
Net financial assets/(liabilities)

Average
interest rate
-

Total

Non-interest
sensitive

Less than
three months

Three to six
months

Six months
to one year

62,641,118

62,641,118

-

-

218,623,755
792,668,509
2,026,286,707
2,764,974,569
11,981,945
510,883,134

210,623,755
792,668,509
115,599,765
510,883,134

8,000,000
684,543,820
252,267,353
11,981,945
-

6,388,059,737 1,692,416,281
7.15%

3,070,233,636

3.89%
7.50%
5.89%
9.40%
-

0.40%
12.30%
14.16%
11.00%
-

One to five
years
-

-

1,863,585
266,652,507
-

64,731,736
822,689,169
425,932,380 1,448,374,385
-

336,858,632
371,747,944
-

956,793,118

268,516,092

490,664,116 2,271,063,554

708,606,576

-

891,225,663

599,280,346

665,078,478

243,907,591
129,960,388
1,068,669,443
1,344,633,676
141,960,694

44,978,823
141,960,694

7,069,591
142,351,013
-

30,584,572
95,361,575
-

5,999,365,428

186,939,517 1,040,646,267

388,694,309 1,505,476,764

(83,853,149)

-

Over five
years

912,015,449

2,633,700

137,257,221
24,017,384
64,960,388
65,000,000
378,200,684
280,595,934
- 1,344,633,676
-

172,160,237
-

725,226,493 1,245,496,771 2,626,262,443

174,793,937

(456,710,401)

(754,832,655)

(355,198,889)

533,812,639

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.
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36 Financial risk management (continued)

36

Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Market risks (continued)

(d) Market risks (continued)

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate
scenarios. An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to a 100 basis point (bp) increase or decrease in interest rates
(assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant statement of financial position) is as
follows:

Exposure to foreign exchange rate risks

100 bp parallel
increase
MNT’000

The Bank is exposed to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial
position and cash flows. The Bank’s management sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies (primarily
USD) and in total. These limits also comply with the minimum requirements set by BOM.
(In MNT’000)

100 bp parallel
decrease
MNT’000

MNT
denominated

Sensitivity of projected net interest income
2018
At 31 December

(18,333,283)

18,333,283

2017
At 31 December

(5,475,237)

5,475,237

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and
placements with
banks and other
financial instruments
Balances and deposits
with the BOM
Investment securities
Loan and advances
Bills purchased under
resale agreements
Other assets (*1)
Financial liabilities
Deposits from
customers
Deposits and
placement by bank
and other financial
institutions
Bills sold under
repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities (*2)

Off-balance foreign
currency
exposure, net
Net foreign currency
exposure

2018
Foreign
currencies

Total

38,314,688

39,448,281

42,625,096

237,210,157

MNT
denominated

106

Total

77,762,969

29,654,491

32,986,627

62,641,118

279,835,253

78,660,742

139,963,013

218,623,755

202,982,243
734,213,030
1,733,928,961
25,212,595
1,984,893,324 1,069,838,442

937,195,273
211,450,889
581,217,620
792,668,509
1,759,141,556 2,024,416,596
1,870,111 2,026,286,707
3,054,731,766 1,456,036,564 1,308,938,005 2,764,974,569

527,526,414
94,466,557
4,530,270,726 2,200,389,062

11,981,945
11,981,945
621,992,971
439,258,809
71,624,325
510,883,134
6,730,659,788 4,251,460,036 2,136,599,701 6,388,059,737

1,996,652,009 1,526,114,667

3,522,766,676 1,581,674,987 1,488,558,649 3,070,233,636

2,885,332

179,122,632

65,000,000
338,006,949
637,819,032
160,000,000 1,301,246,758
88,500,540
59,301,220
2,651,044,830 3,703,604,309

182,007,964

11,234,388

232,673,203

1,319,708,331

1,274,120,623

(183,506,915)

(150,822,902)
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243,907,591

65,000,000
129,960,388
129,960,388
975,825,981
474,887,313
593,782,131 1,068,669,444
1,461,246,758
160,000,000 1,184,633,676 1,344,633,676
147,801,760
80,065,127
61,895,567
141,960,694
6,354,649,139 2,437,822,203 3,561,543,226 5,999,365,429

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.
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2017
Foreign
currencies
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36

Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Market risks (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
(e) Capital Management

Exposure to foreign exchange rate risks (continued)

BOM sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole.

A ten percent strengthening or weakening of the MNT against the USD at 31 December 2018 and 2017
would have increased (decreased) comprehensive income by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The Bank of Mongolia requires the Bank to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 14.0% at 31
December 2018 and 2017, complied on the basis of total capital and total assets as adjusted for their risk
(“CAR”) and a minimum of 9.0% at 31 December 2018 and 2017, complied on the basis of total tier 1 capital
and total assets as adjusted for their risk (“TCAR”).

Ten percent
Strengthening
MNT’000

Ten percent
Weakening
MNT’000

2018
At 31 December

18,350,692

(18,350,692)

2017
At 31 December

15,822,902

(15,822,902)

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The qualifying tier 2 capital cannot exceed tier 1
capital; and qualifying term subordinated borrowings capital may not exceed 50 percent of tier 1 capital.
Risk-weighted assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying
levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet exposures.
The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investors, creditors and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on
shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Bank recognises the need to maintain a balance between the
higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position.
The Bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. There have
been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the year.
On 1 April 2015, the Governor of the Bank of Mongolia announced Order A-58, which requires the Bank to
increase its share capital to MNT 50 billion by 31 December 2015 and not to pay dividends by 31 December
2018.
The suitable ratios of the Bank’s capital adequacy as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, were as
following:
2018
MNT’000
735,459,708
131,985,976

Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital

638,055,602
136,612,874

867,445,684

774,668,476

4,443,613,674

4,549,854,176

Capital ratios
Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage of
total risk-weighted assets (“CAR”)

19.52%

17.03%

Total tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of
risk-weighted assets (“TCAR”)

16.55%

14.02%

Total Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital
Risk weighted assets
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2017
MNT’000
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37

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Bank follows the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
based on the level of significant inputs used in measurement.
Level 1: Fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: The inputs used for fair value measurement are market observable inputs, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Valuation techniques are used to estimate fair value of which significant inputs are not based on
observable market data.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(In MNT‘000)

2018
Note

Financial assets
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Investment securities
Loans and advances
Bills purchased under resale
agreements
Other assets(*1)

4
4
5
7
8
13

The Bank determines fair values for those financial instruments which are not carried at fair value in the
financial statements as follows:
(i)

Financial assets and liabilities for which fair value approximates carrying amount
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having short term maturity of less than one
year, it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their respective fair value. This assumption
is also applicable to demand deposits, time deposits and variable rate financial instruments, which is
principally due to the fact that the current market rates offered for similar deposit products do not differ
significantly from market rates at inception.

(ii)

Fixed rate financial instruments
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost basis are estimated
by comparing market interest rates when they were first recognised with the current market rates
offered for the similar financial instruments available in Mongolia. For quoted debt issued, the fair
values are measured based on quoted market prices and in case where observable market inputs are
not available, a discounted cash flow model is employed.
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Carrying
amount
77,762,969

2017
Fair value
77,762,969

Carrying
amount
62,641,118

Fair value
62,641,118

1,217,030,526 1,217,030,526 1,011,292,264 1,011,292,264
1,759,141,556 1,819,877,590 2,026,286,707 2,106,523,564
3,054,731,766 3,106,425,444 2,764,974,569 2,806,470,750
621,992,971

621,992,971

11,981,945
510,883,134

11,981,945
510,883,134

6,730,659,788 6,843,089,501 6,388,059,737 6,509,792,775
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by banks
and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)

15
16
17
18
19
20

3,522,766,676 3,505,460,751 3,070,233,636 3,048,074,877
182,007,964

182,007,964

243,907,591

243,907,591

65,000,000
65,000,000
129,960,388 129,960,388
975,825,981 975,825,981 1,068,669,444 1,068,669,444
1,461,246,758 1,501,693,090 1,344,633,676 1,449,178,848
147,801,760 147,801,760
141,960,694 141,960,694
6,354,649,139 6,377,789,546 5,999,365,429 6,081,751,842

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal and inventory supplies were excluded.
(*2) Unearned income was excluded.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments which are measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(In MNT’000)
2017

(In MNT’000)

Investment securities (AFS)(*1)
Derivative assets

Level 1

Level 2(*2)

Level 3(*3)

51,388,358
-

571,199,540
-

379,263,246

51,388,358

571,199,540

379,263,246 1,001,851,144

Derivative liabilities

-

1,515,973

Level 2(*2)

Level 1

2018
Total

-

622,587,898
379,263,246

1,515,973

(*1) As at 31 December 2018, repossessed assets and unquoted equity securities at cost amounting to
MNT 75,260,890 thousand and MNT 3,552,205 thousand, respectively, were excluded.
(*2) The fair value of level 2 financial instruments were measured by valuation technique using market
observable interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate, etc.
There was no transfer between level 1 and level 2 for the year ended 31 December 2018.
(*3) The fair value of level 3 financial instrument was measured by discounted cash flow method using
market unobservable forward exchange rate. USD to MNT forward exchange rate is 2,915.30 as at 31
December 2018.
A ten percent strengthening or weakening of input unobservable in markets as at 31 December 2018
would have increased or decreased other comprehensive income by MNT 121,170,478 thousand.
Total gains or losses for the period recognised in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
related to financial instruments in level 3 were MNT 349,865,000 thousand and MNT 29,398,246
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Investment securities (AFS)(*1)
Derivative assets

22,898,445

Level 3(*3)

Total

791,590,931

-

-

-

314,341,681

314,341,681

22,898,445

791,590,931

314,341,681

1,128,831,057

-

6,750

-

6,750

Derivative liabilities

814,489,376

(*1) As at 31 December 2017, repossessed assets and unquoted equity securities at cost amounting to
MNT 92,257,890 thousand and MNT 443,430 thousand, respectively, were excluded.
(*2) The fair value of level 2 financial instruments were measured by valuation technique using market
observable interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate, etc.
There was no transfer between level 1 and level 2 for the year ended 31 December 2017.

(*3) The fair value of level 3 financial instrument was measured by discounted cash flow method using
market unobservable forward exchange rate. USD to MNT forward exchange rate is 2,931.70 as at 31
December 2017.
A ten percent strengthening or weakening of input unobservable in markets as at 31 December 2017
would have increased or decreased other comprehensive income by MNT 106,031,576 thousand.
Total gains or losses for the period recognised in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
related to financial instruments in level 3 were MNT 241,970,000 thousand and MNT 72,371,681
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2017.
There was no transfer between level 3 and other levels for the year ended 31 December 2017.

There was no transfer between level 3 and other levels for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments which are not measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(In MNT’000)
2017
Level 1

(In MNT’000)
2018
Level 1
Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with
banks and other financial institutions
Investment securities(HTM)
Loans and advances
Other assets(*1)

Level 2

Level 3

Total

77,762,969

-

-

77,762,969

-

1,118,476,597
-

1,217,030,526
3,106,425,444
242,729,724

1,217,030,526
1,118,476,597
3,106,425,444
242,729,724

77,762,969

1,118,476,597

4,566,185,694

5,762,425,260

Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by banks
and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)

-

-

3,505,460,751

3,505,460,751

-

-

182,007,964

182,007,964

-

1,501,693,090
1,501,693,090

65,000,000
975,825,981
146,285,788
4,874,580,484

65,000,000
975,825,981
1,501,693,090
146,285,788
6,376,273,574

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal, inventory supplies, derivative assets and spot receivables were
excluded.
(*2) Unearned income, derivative liabilities and spot payables were excluded.
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Cash on hand
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions
Investment securities (HTM)
Loans and advances
Bills purchased under resale
agreements
Other assets(*1)

Level 2

62,641,118

Level 3

Total

-

-

62,641,118

-

-

1,011,292,264

1,011,292,264

-

1,199,332,868
-

2,806,470,750

1,199,332,868
2,806,470,750

-

-

11,981,945
196,541,453

11,981,945
196,541,453

62,641,118

1,199,332,868

4,026,286,412

5,288,260,398

-

-

3,048,074,877

3,048,074,877

-

-

243,907,591

243,907,591

Deposits from customers
Deposits and placements by banks
and other financial institutions
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements
Borrowings
Debt securities issued
Other liabilities(*2)

-

-

129,960,388

129,960,388

-

1,449,178,848

1,068,669,444
-

1,068,669,444
1,449,178,848

-

-

141,953,944

141,953,944

-

1,449,178,848

4,632,566,244

6,081,745,092

(*1) Prepayments, precious metal, inventory supplies, derivative assets and spot receivables were
excluded.
(*2) Unearned income, derivative liabilities and spot payables were excluded.
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Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Details of financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting agreements and similar agreements as at 31 December 2018
and 2017 were as follows:
(In MNT’000)
2018

Financial assets and
liabilities recognised
after offset

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

65,000,000

-

65,000,000

65,000,000

-

-

65,000,000

-

65,000,000

65,000,000

Financial assets
and liabilities
recognised
Financial assets
Bills purchased under resale
agreements(*1)

Financial liabilities
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements(*1)

Amount not offsetting in the
statements of financial position

Offsetting
financial assets
and liabilities
recognised

Financial

Cash collateral

instruments

received

Total

-

-

(*1) Resale and repurchase agreement, securities borrowing and lending agreement are also similar to ISDA agreement with respect to enforceable netting
agreements.
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Offsetting financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(In MNT’000)
2017

Financial assets and
liabilities recognised
after offset

11,981,945

-

11,981,945

11,981,945

-

-

11,981,945

-

11,981,945

11,981,945

-

-

Financial assets
and liabilities
recognised
Financial assets
Bills purchased under resale
agreements(*1)

Financial liabilities
Bills sold under repurchase
agreements(*1)

Amount not offsetting in the
statements of financial position

Offsetting
financial assets
and liabilities
recognised

Financial

Cash collateral

instruments

received

Total

129,960,388

-

129,960,388

129,960,388

-

-

129,960,388

-

129,960,388

129,960,388

-

-

(*1) Resale and repurchase agreement, securities borrowing and lending agreement are also similar to ISDA agreement with respect to enforceable netting
agreements.
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Commitment and contingent liabilities

Commitment and contingent liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantees and letters of credit

Other Matter (continued)

At any time the Bank has outstanding commitments to extend credit, these commitments take the form of
undrawn portions of approved loans, credit card limits and overdraft facilities.

On 19 July 2018, the Appellate court of the Administrative case also upheld the judgment. On 19 September
2018, the Supreme Court of Mongolia heard the case and upheld the decision of its lower court. However
SPMCD did not transfer the stake to MCC and has been failing to honor the Supreme Court’s judgment
rendered on 19 September 2018.

The Bank provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of customers third
parties. These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend for a period of less than one year. The Bank
also provides guarantees by acting as settlement agent in securities borrowing and lending transactions. The
contractual amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in the following table by category.
The amounts reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk would be recognised at the reporting date if counterparties failed completely to perform as
contracted.
2018
MNT’000

As at 31 December

318,584,981
189,906,239
45,172,472

Letters of credit and guarantees
Loan and credit card commitments
Unfunded Syndicated risk participation

2017
MNT’000
471,676,191
166,400,776
70,325,791

A significant portion of the contingent liabilities and commitments will expire without being advanced in whole
or in part. Accordingly, the amounts do not represent expected future cash flows.
Other Matter
On 10 February 2017, the Parliament of Mongolia issued a resolution 23 with respect to the acquisition of
49% stake in Erdenet Mining Corporation LLC (EMC) by Mongolian Copper Corporation LLC (MCC), where
the Bank provided financing to MCC for its 49% stake. Based on this resolution, the Government of Mongolia
(GoM) has issued a resolution on 29 March 2017 which directed State Property Management and
Coordination Department (SPMCD) to transfer MCC’s 49 % stake in EMC to the state ownership and appoint
all board members of EMC from GOM side. The SPMCD issued respective decisions and the Legal entity
registration office of the General department of intellectual property and state registration (GDIPSR) has
registered the EMC’s revised charter which was approved by the shareholder’s meeting held by sole
representatives of the SPMCD without notification to MCC.
MCC has filed a claim against the SPMCD and the GDIPSR in the Civil court for recovering MCC’s violated
ownership rights and interests related to (1) illegally transferred MCC’s 49 % stake holding in to state
ownership, (2) illegally revised charter of EMC.
Trial, Appellate and the Supreme Court of Civil cases of Mongolia have reviewed a claim and ruled in favor of
MCC. The Supreme Court of Mongolia ruled that the Parliament resolution shall not be the ground to hold the
extraordinary shareholders meeting, to restrict shareholders ownership right without compensation.
Procedures to hold a shareholders meeting shall be complied with regulations and procedures provided by
law. Based on the Supreme Court’s decision, MCC’s 49 % stake holding registered in GDIPSR would remain
valid. Following the Supreme court judgment, the GoM directed SPMCD and the GDIPSR to reinstate MCC’s
49% stake in EMC which effected on 28 December 2017.

Despite of the Supreme Court of Mongolia’s ruling in 2018, the GoM released previous GoM meeting minutes
made in 2016 regarding EMC matter, in March 2019, and has made allegations against the Bank’s
Management, that the financing for MCC to acquire a 49% stake in EMC is illegal. On 6 March 2019, the
GoM issued a resolution to set an emergency regime for six months at Erdenet Mining Corporation based on
the Law on Government and other related laws. During the period of emergency regime, there will not be
interruptions in operations of EMC etc. and financial documents will be inspected only. The Prime Minister
set up a working group to implement the resolution.
The GoM has restructured EMC as a 100% State Owned Enterprise (SOE) simply through a government
decision. And the Prosecutors Office returned the case file due to insufficient evidences to make a case in
court against the Bank’s Management and others.
The allegations of the GoM include loans to Kanetic LLC (US$68 million), United Energy System LLC (US$ 70
million) and MCC (US$75 million), payments (presented as Construction in Progress in the financial
statements) to Riverstone Properties LLC (US$70 million) at the time of purchasing EMC stakes. The loans
to Kanetic LLC of US$ 68 million was repaid in full and the bank extended to new loans of US$28.0 million
and MNT 91.1 billion in 2017. As of 31 December 2018, the loans to Kanetic LLC and loans of US$62.8 million
to MCC and US$90 million of construction-in-progress for which related payments have been made to
Riverstone Properties LLC are recorded in the statement of financial position.
The Bank is asserting that those transactions were not illegal finances as per the Supreme Court’s ruling, and
believes there are no impacts on the recoverability of loans and the construction progress by Riverstone
Properties LLC (Riverstone), in spite of the allegations by the GoM.
However, the Bank recognized, from Riverstone’s audit report, that some of the fund which was paid by the
Bank for construction of new head office building, was paid to MCC by Riverstone. The Bank believes that
there is no legal basis to conclude that lending its advance payment to MCC by Riverstone is violating relevant
laws, and if the Riverstone has failed to perform their obligation within the period stipulated in the contract,
the Bank is entitled to demand compensation for caused damages due to contract renouncing in accordance
with the Civil code of Mongolia. The Bank has been cooperating with Riverstone and will continue to monitor
the construction progress.
As the GoM’s inspection on financial documents under an emergency regime for 6 months at EMC, is
currently in progress, the ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently be determined. Accordingly, no
provision has been recorded in the financial statements

On 4 January 2018, the GoM issued another resolution demanding that MCC’s 49% stake in EMC be
transferred to the State Property. In exchange, the GoM determined to offset the outstanding loans extended
to the Bank by the GoM pursuant to the Loan and Collateral agreement between the GoM (including
Development Bank of Mongolia) and the Bank at the amount of costs paid by MCC when they acquired the
49% interest in EMC. MCC filed a claim against the GoM, SPMCD and GDIPSR to invalidate the resolution
and its subsequent decisions. On 9 February 2018, the first instance Administration Court decided to suspend
the implementation of the GoM’s resolution and its subsequent decisions.
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Interests in unconsolidated structured entities
Nature of risk associated with interests in unconsolidated structured entities as 31 December 2018 and 2017
are as follows:

Type
Nature and purpose

Financing

Total Assets
2018
2017
MNT’000
MNT’000

To generate:
Securitisation
vehicles for
loans and
advances

▪ funding for the Bank’s lending
activities.
▪ fees for loan servicing.

Issue of
RMBS
notes

2,868,123,771

2,559,588,842

These vehicles are financed through
the issue of notes to investors.
Exposure to risk relating to interests in unconsolidated structured entities as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
are as follows:
2018
MNT’000
Investment securities
Securitisation vehicles for loans and advances

102,802,800
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2017
MNT’000
105,177,000

MORE INFORMATION:
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